HEALTHY EATING INDEX-2010 SCORES OF PRESCHOOL-AGED CHILDREN IN

SAN MARCOS, TEXAS, RELATIONSHIPS BETWEEN SCORES AND FOOD

ENVIRONMENT FACTORS, AND COMPARISON TO AGE-MATCHED

SCORES FROM A NATIONAL SAMPLE (NATIONAL

HEALTH AND NUTRITION EXAMINATION

SURVEY 2009-2012)

by

Jessi deGruy Page, B.A.

A thesis submitted to the Graduate Council of Texas State University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science with a Major in Human Nutrition May 2017

Committee Members:

Dr. Sylvia Crixell, Chair

Dr. Lesli Biediger-Friedman

Dr. Nicholas Bishop

COPYRIGHT

by

Jessi deGruy Page

FAIR USE AND AUTHOR'S PERMISSION STATEMENT

Fair Use

This work is protected by the Copyright Laws of the United States (Public Law 94-553, section 107). Consistent with fair use as defined in the Copyright Laws, brief quotations from this material are allowed with proper acknowledgment. Use of this material for financial gain without the author's express written permission is not allowed.

Duplication Permission

As the copyright holder of this work I, Jessi deGruy Page, authorize duplication of this work, in whole or in part, for educational or scholarly purposes only.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

First, I would like to express my sincere gratitude to my thesis adviser and mentor, Dr. Sylvia Crixell, for her patience, support, and guidance. Thank you, Dr. Crixell, for teaching me about research procedures, honing my writing skills, and gently helping me to reach numerous academic, professional, and personal goals over the last two years. To the other members of my thesis committee: Dr. Lesli Biediger-Friedman, thank you for your advice and insight, and Dr. Nicholas Bishop, thank you for sharing your expertise in statistical analysis and offering suggestions on reporting quantitative research results. I would like to thank Hillary Kotwal for her work collecting the parent survey data and Brittany Markides for her meticulous collection of the 24-hour recall data as well as the countless hours she spent patiently answering my questions. Additionally, I would like to thank my colleagues in the Community Research Lab for offering me such warmth, understanding, and encouragement to persevere.

I am forever grateful to my parents, DeAnne and Raoul deGruy, for believing in me and supporting my every goal. Finally, I want to thank my husband, Robert Daniel Page, for inspiring, advising, reassuring, and loving me, regardless of the effects of stress and lack of sleep on my personality.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

	Page
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	IV
LIST OF TABLES	VII
LIST OF FIGURES	IX
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS	X
CHAPTER	
I. INTRODUCTION	1
Best Food FITS	1
Regional Importance	2
Study Trajectory	3
Position of Thesis Project within Best Food FITS	5
II. LITERATURE REVIEW	6
Childhood Obesity Statistics	6
Childhood Obesity Consequences	7
Causes of Childhood Overweight/Obesity	8
Individual Factors	9
Behavioral/Environmental Settings	11
Sectors of Influence	14
Societal Factors	16
Diets of Preschool-Aged Children	17
Dietary Recommendations for Children Ages 2-5	19
National Studies on Preschool Diets	22
Local Studies on Preschool Diets	25
Methods of Assessing Diet Quality	
Healthy Eating Index	27
Healthy Eating Index-2010 Scoring System	29
Use of the HEI in Research	
HEI Studies and Results Across Child Populations	
Objectives	

III. METHODS	39
Assessment of San Marcos Children's Diets Based on the HEI-2010.	40
Statistical Analysis	43
Analysis of Relationships Between Survey Variables and Individual	
Diet Scores	45
Statistical Analysis	46
Comparison of Local HEI-2010 Scores with National Scores	47
IV. RESULTS	49
Assessment of San Marcos Children's Diets Based on the HEI-2010.	50
Nutrient Intakes and HEI-2010 Scores	52
Best Food FITS Goals for Improving Children's Diets:	
Fruit, Vegetables, and Sugar-Sweetened Beverages	55
Analysis of Relationships Between Survey Variables and Individual	
Diet Scores	57
Comparison of Local HEI-2010 Scores with National Scores	62
V. DISCUSSION	66
Diet Quality of Children in San Marcos, TX	66
Relationships Between Parent Survey Variables and Children's	
Diet Scores	69
Comparison of Local HEI-2010 Scores with National Scores	71
Strengths and Limitations	72
Summary	73
APPENDIX	74
DEEDENCES	70
NEFENERCED	19

LIST OF TABLES

Table	age
1. Demographic and socioeconomic information for the city of San Marcos, Hays County, the state of Texas, and the United States	2
2. Recommended Dietary Allowances (RDAs) of key micro- and macronutrients for US children ages 2-5	20
3. Calorie and food group recommendations for US toddlers and preschoolers ages 2-5 years by age and sex	21
4. Comparison of HEI-2005 and HEI-2010 components	29
5. HEI-2010 components and scoring standards	30
6. Review of studies that have used HEI scores to assess the diets of preschool-aged children	33
7. Methods for calculating HEI-2010 component scores	42
8. Nutrition Data System for Research (NDSR) subgroups used in sugar-sweetened beverage analysis	45
9. Parent survey questions selected for inclusion in diet quality analysis	46
10. Socio-demographic characteristics of children and caregivers sampled from childcare centers in San Marcos, TX	49
11. HEI-2010 component and total scores for participating San Marcos children ages 2-5	50
12. Mean HEI-2010 component scores of a sample of San Marcos preschoolers by score category	52
13. Mean micronutrient and macronutrient intakes of sample of San Marcos preschoolers by HEI-2010 score category	54

14. Mean intakes of animal and plant-based protein from a sample of San Marcos preschoolers by HEI-2010 score category	55
15. Mean HEI-2010 scores for San Marcos children ages 2-5 by whether or not they met fruit and vegetable recommendations	56
16. Differences in mean HEI-2010 scores for San Marcos children ages 205 by SSB servings	56
17. Means, standard deviations, and intercorrelations for HEI-2010 scores and predictor variables (n=123)	57
18. Regression analysis summary for servings of fruit, vegetables, and SSBs predicting HEI-2010 scores of San Marcos preschoolers (n=123)	57
19. Mean HEI-2010 scores based on variables of interest from survey distributed to parents of San Marcos preschoolers	58
20. Mean HEI-2010 scores for San Marcos children ages 2-5 by parents' participation in food assistance programs	62
21. HEI-2010 component and total scores for national sample of children ages 2-5: NHANES 2009-2012 (n=25,425)	63

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure	Page
1. A socio-ecological model of obesity risk	8
2. Evaluation of Healthy Eating Index-2010 scores based on USDA Center for Nutrition Policy and Promotion (CNPP) diet quality standards	51
 Comparison of mean Healthy Eating Index-2010 scores between local sample of San Marcos preschoolers and national sample of preschoolers (NHANES 2009-2012) 	64
4. Radar chart visualization of Healthy Eating Index-2010 component scores between local sample of San Marcos preschoolers and national sample of preschoolers (NHANES 2009-2012)	65

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

Abbreviation

Description

- AHA American Heart Association
- AAP American Academy of Pediatrics
- CDC Centers for Disease Control and Prevention
- **CNPP** Center for Nutrition Policy and Promotion
- CSFII Continuing Survey of Food Intakes by Individuals
- DGA Dietary Guidelines for Americans
- DRI Dietary Reference Intake
- FITS Feeding Infants and Toddlers Study
- HEI Healthy Eating Index
- NAR Nutrient Adequacy Ratio
- NDSR Nutrition Data System for Research
- NHANES National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey
- RDA Recommended Dietary Allowance
- SNAP Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program
- SSB Sugar-sweetened beverages
- TANF Temporary Assistance for Needy Families
- USDA United States Department of Agriculture
- WIC Special Supplemental Nutrition Program for Women, Infants, and Children

I. INTRODUCTION

Best Food FITS

Best Food for Families, Infants, and Toddlers (Best Food FITS) is a communityoriented research initiative funded initially by the Texas Department of State Health Services and directed by faculty in the Texas State University Nutrition and Foods program. Launched in 2010, Best Food FITS is dedicated to improving the health of children in central Texas by reducing their risk of obesity. The primary strategies of Best Food FITS projects are to increase children's intake of fruits and vegetables and decrease their intake of sugar-sweetened beverages (SSBs).

One of the earliest Best Food FITS endeavors involved funding the construction of four teaching kitchens in the San Marcos Chapultepec Adult Learning Center. Best Food FITS has since used the center to educate San Marcos residents through regular hands-on cooking classes that emphasize healthy, fresh ingredients.¹ These classes also emphasize the importance of preventing excess weight gain, particularly among young children. To ensure the sustainability of this community intervention, the delivery of these classes by students has been incorporated into the undergraduate nutrition and foods curriculum at Texas State University.¹ Another Best Food FITS project aimed at improving the health of children in and around San Marcos, Texas engaged community partners to improve children's menus in area restaurants.¹ Ongoing Best Food FITS research initiatives involve area childcare facilities, parents of preschoolers, and investigation of the use of mobile technology to improve health behaviors among participants in the Texas Special Supplemental Nutrition Program for Women, Infants, and Children (WIC).

Regional Importance

The focus of Best Food FITS research efforts is the population of San Marcos, Texas, a mid-sized city in South Central Texas with approximately 60,684 residents.² San Marcos is located in Hays County, and is situated approximately midway between the second and fourth largest cities in Texas, San Antonio and Austin, respectively. The population of San Marcos is ethnically diverse, with 37.8% of residents identifying as Hispanic or Latino.² The poverty rate is high; at 37.1%, the proportion of residents living below the poverty level is more than double the rates in Texas (15.9%) and in the US (13.5%).² Demographic information for San Marcos is summarized in Table 1.

	San Marcos	Hays County	Texas	US
Demographic Background				
Population	60,684	194,739	27,469,114	321,418,820
Males, %	49.7	49.8	49.6	49.2
Females, %	50.3	50.2	50.4	50.8
Population, percent change: April 1, 2010 – July 1, 2015	34.6	23.9	9.2	4.1
Racial and ethnic origin, %				
White, non-Hispanic	53.7	55.5	43.0	61.6
Black/African American	5.5	4.2	12.5	13.3
American Indian/Alaska Native	0.9	1.2	1.0	1.2
Asian	1.6	1.6	4.7	5.6
Native Hawaiian or Pacific Islander	0.1	0.2	0.1	0.2
Hispanic or Latino	37.8	37.6	38.8	17.6
Two or more races	3.1	2.1	1.9	2.6
Persons under 5 years, %	4.4	5.9	7.2	6.2
Socio-Economic Circumstances				
Median household income	\$27,261	\$58,878	\$52,576	\$53,482
Persons below poverty level, %	37.1	17.5	15.9	13.5
Individuals age 25 years+ with Bachelor's degree or higher, %	32.2	36.8	27.1	29.3
Unemployment rate	3.5%	3.4%	4.2%	5.1%

 Table 1. Demographic and socioeconomic information for the city of San Marcos,

 Hays County, the state of Texas, and the United States^{2,3}

Rates of overweight and obesity among children in San Marcos are higher than

those of children across the state of Texas and the nation as a whole. According to 2013 data from the Texas Youth Fitness Study led by The Cooper Institute, 38.5% of San Marcos Consolidated Independent School District (CISD) students have body mass indices that place them at high risk for future health complications.⁴ Sixteen percent of low-income preschoolers in Hays County are obese, compared to 15.7% across the state and approximately 14% throughout the US.^{3,5}

In 2015, San Marcos was named the fastest-growing mid-sized city in the country for the third year in a row.⁶ From 2010 – 2020, the population in Hays County is expected to increase by 41%.⁷ This projected increase in population will significantly affect the demand for the health care and social services necessary to support a healthy and successful community. Thus, the future economic growth of South Central Texas will depend upon the improvement of its health care system and the overall health of its residents.⁷ Consistent with this need, Best Food FITS researchers are working to address child obesity by investigating avenues of prevention.

Study Trajectory

In 2012-2013, Best Food FITS researchers worked with San Marcos childcare centers to assess their health-related environmental features as well as practices affecting children's diets and physical activity.⁸ During a workshop intervention, focus group discussions with childcare center staff suggested that parents of enrolled children were not always supportive of the centers' efforts to provide healthy foods (data not published). Based on these findings, researchers determined that the next phase of Best Food FITS research efforts should involve San Marcos parents of young children in order to better understand their home food environments, including barriers to healthy eating.

The first stage of the Best Food FITS Parents study involved the administration of a survey to parents of children ages 2-5 enrolled in area childcare centers that asked for information about subjects' home food environments and feeding practices. Questions focused on five main themes, including parent feeding practices, parent nutrition knowledge, parent self-efficacy, parent perceptions, and the home food environment.

In the next phase of the Best Food FITS Parents study, a research team conducted 24-hour dietary recalls with parents who had expressed interest in participating, using the computer software program Nutrition Data System for Research (NDSR). The 24-hour dietary recalls were completed by parents regarding the intakes of one preschool-aged child in the family. Following the first round of 24-hour recalls, a multiple-component intervention was conducted among the parents. The intervention involved the distribution of an informational packet, Facebook postings that provided education and support, and educational updates posted on the Best Food FITS website. Additionally, 41 of the parents completed a separate photo texting intervention. The photo texting method was derived from PhotoVoice, a method of qualitative data collection whereby participants take photographs and reflect upon them.⁹ In this case, participants were asked to take and reflect on photographs of their home food environments. By including the participants' point of view, the photo texting intervention enabled researchers to identify concepts that could be missed using more traditional data collection methods. The photo texting process was also intended to empower participants as they reflected critically about their home environments.9 Finally, post-intervention assessments included administration of a second round of parent surveys and collection of another 24-hour recall of the preschooler's diet.

Position of Thesis Project within Best Food FITS

This thesis project commenced with an analysis of data collected from the Best Food FITS Parents study, including the raw NDSR output from the 24-hour recalls of preschoolers and the responses collected from administration of the parent surveys. The goal of this project was to contribute to a community needs assessment by highlighting areas of concern within the diets of this high-risk population and identifying potential foci for future nutrition interventions. Healthy Eating Index (HEI) scores were generated from the dietary recall data, and overall and component scores were compared to national scores. Select parent survey data were also analyzed for the purpose of investigating relationships between the quality of the children's diets and their home food environments.

II. LITERATURE REVIEW

Childhood Obesity Statistics

The prevalence of overweight and obesity among childhood in the United States is a serious problem. For children ages 2-19 years, "overweight" is defined as having a body mass index (BMI) between the 85th and 95th percentiles for children of the same age and sex. "Obesity" is defined as having a BMI-for-age at or above the 95th percentile.¹⁰ These BMI-for-age and sex percentiles are determined using Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) growth charts. Definitions of "overweight" and "obesity" are not used in the same way to describe children under two years of age; rather, "overweight" or "excess weight" is identified within this age group using sex-specific weight-forrecumbent-length CDC growth charts.¹¹ A weight-for-recumbent-length at or above the 95th percentile denotes "overweight" or "excess weight" status.¹¹ As early childhood is a critical period of development for physical growth and weight-for-stature, rates of overweight and obesity among preschool-aged children are particularly alarming.^{12,13}

According to data from the 2013–2014 National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES), approximately 33.4% of US children and adolescents ages 2–19 years are overweight or obese.¹⁴ Although the age cutoff values for Texas data (ages 10-17 years) differ from those of the NHANES group, at 36.6%, the rate of childhood overweight and obesity in Texas does appear to be higher than this national average.¹⁵ While rates of obesity among preschool-aged children (ages 2-5 years) in the US have declined slightly since 2010, the most recent NHANES data still indicate that 9.4% of preschoolers are obese.¹⁴ In Texas, as many as 15.3% of children ages 2-5 may

be obese.¹⁶ Obesity rates are generally worse among low-income preschoolers, at 14% nationally, 15.7% across the state of Texas, and 16% in Hays County.^{3,5}

Childhood Obesity Consequences

The ramifications of such high rates of obesity among young children are troubling, as childhood overweight and obesity are associated with significant short-term and long-term health consequences. For example, obese youth are at greater risk of experiencing bone and joint problems such as Blount's disease and slipped capital femoral epiphysis; breathing problems such as obstructive sleep apnea and asthma; and one or more cardiovascular disease risk factors, such as high blood pressure and high cholesterol.¹⁷ Childhood obesity is also associated with higher rates of impaired glucose tolerance, insulin resistance, type 2 diabetes mellitus, fatty liver disease, gallstones, and gastro-esophageal reflux.¹⁰ Finally, childhood obesity is associated with myriad social and psychological problems, including stigmatization, depression, poor self-esteem, and weakened life goals.¹⁸ These emotional problems have far-reaching consequences; for example, they have been shown to lead to poor educational outcomes such as difficulty learning, lower test scores, and increased truancy.¹⁹

Childhood obesity is a strong predictor of obesity in adulthood; obese children have more than a 66% chance of being overweight by the age of 35.^{20,21} Overweight and obese children are at increased risk for adult morbidity and mortality related to weight status.²² They are more likely to experience serious health conditions as adults, such as cardiovascular disease, type 2 diabetes, stroke, many types of cancer, and osteoarthritis.^{10,17} These risks highlight the need for early obesity interventions. The Institute of Medicine has described childhood obesity as a largely preventable disease;

thus, addressing its many causes and establishing strategies to reverse the dangerous health trends associated with childhood obesity are national public health imperatives.²¹

Causes of Childhood Overweight/Obesity

Early childhood is a critical period of development, and is thus the most appropriate time for targeted interventions to prevent obesity.¹² Childhood overweight and obesity are associated with complex factors across the individual, interpersonal, industrial, and societal levels of the socio-ecological model, as illustrated in Figure 1.



Figure 1. A socio-ecological model of obesity risk, adapted from the Institute of Medicine and Story, et al., "Creating Healthy Food and Eating Environments: Policy and Environmental Approaches," with examples provided for each category.^{23–25} This framework provides a valuable multilevel approach to address the causes of obesity.²⁶

Individual Factors

Race and ethnicity are significant factors associated with increased obesity risk. According to NHANES 2011-2014 data, obesity rates for children ages 2-5 were higher among Hispanic (15.6%) and black (10.4%) children than among white (5.2%) children.²⁷ Likewise, Hispanic children in Texas also have the highest rates of overweight and obesity of any other racial/ethnic group. According to the most recently published data from the National Survey of Children's Health (NSCH), 46.8% of Hispanic children ages 10-17 in Texas are obese, compared to 26.3% of black non-Hispanic children and 22.9% of white non-Hispanic children.²⁸ These statistics are particularly concerning given that the proportion of Hispanic children in Texas is rapidly growing.^{7,28}

Socioeconomic status is also related to rates of childhood obesity. Obesity is more prevalent among preschoolers from lower-income families, and an inverse correlation has been observed between family income-to-poverty ratio and rate of childhood obesity.²⁹ According to data from the CDC's Pediatric Nutrition Surveillance System, 14.7% of low-income preschool-aged children in the US are obese, compared to approximately 9.4% of preschool-aged children across the general population.³⁰ At 15.3%, the percentage of low-income preschoolers in Texas who are obese is slightly higher than the national average.³¹

Biological factors such as an individual's genetic makeup, unique micro-biome, and hormone levels also influence childhood weight status. Polymorphisms within individual genes, such as the fat-mass and obesity-associated (FTO) gene, have been linked to childhood obesity.³² Hormones that regulate satiety, such as leptin and ghrelin,

play significant roles not only in the development of obesity in childhood, but also in the determination of weight set points that are defended throughout adult life.³³

Early life is a critical period for the programming of appetite and the regulation of energy balance.¹² Exposure to obesogenic influences during this time may have lifelong consequences related to the risk of excess weight gain. For example, many modifiable early-life risk factors, such as maternal obesity, have been associated with increased risk of childhood overweight and obesity.¹² Investigations of this association in the south central Texas region include a 2012 study of low-income Mexican-American mothers and their children, which found that maternal BMI was a significant predictor of child weight.³⁴ Other maternal characteristics frequently associated with child overweight and obesity include low maternal vitamin D status and maternal smoking during pregnancy.³⁵ Although discordant, research also strongly suggests that breastfeeding provides some protection from the risk of obesity. Both breastfeeding duration and exclusivity have been inversely associated with the rate of weight gain in infants as well as adiposity and risk of overweight in toddlers and preschoolers.³⁶

Exposure to common environmental toxins may also play a role in the development of childhood overweight and obesity. Evidence suggests that many ubiquitous chemicals, such as bisphenol A, which is used to produce plastics, and polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs), which are found in cigarette smoke, vehicle exhaust, grilled and charred meats, pickled foods, and many processed foods, are obesogenic.³⁷ Clearly, the number of individual-level factors that contribute to the development of obesity cannot be overestimated.

Behavioral/Environmental Settings

Many studies have investigated the environmental and interpersonal factors that affect health behaviors associated with childhood obesity.³⁸ These include the effects of interpersonal relationships, i.e. family dynamics and parent influences, as well as factors related to the built environment and the home food environment.

The home food environment, including food accessibility and mealtime structure, is a fundamental cause of poor dietary choices and obesity in children.^{39,40} The concept of food accessibility may describe multiple elements related to the availability of food, from the ability to meet the expense of groceries to the physical reachability of food items to children in the home.⁴⁰ Mealtime structure refers to the frequency at which home-cooked versus ready-made foods are served, the location and timing of meals, and whether or not meals are consumed while watching television.⁴¹

Parents and caregivers are important role models, and their feeding practices are crucial in shaping children's emerging food preferences, development of self-regulation, and potentially, lifelong eating habits.⁴² Elements of parent feeding practices that significantly affect the diets and weight status of children include the use of pressure to encourage children to eat, the use of food to control behavior, restriction of the amount of food that may be eaten, positive involvement in child eating, and mealtime strategies such as modeling healthy eating behaviors and eating together as a family.^{43–45} Perhaps counter-intuitively, the increased use of pressure and control by parents at mealtime often has unintended negative effects on children's behavioral responses, food selection, and intake.⁴⁵ For example, studies have shown that restricting children's access to particular foods increases their subsequent selection and consumption of those items.^{42,45}

Conversely, encouragement and positive role modeling of eating behaviors is associated with better quality diets.^{44,46} Thus, parental awareness of healthy modeling behaviors is essential in promoting appropriate child weight status.

Factors related to parent knowledge and beliefs also affect child weight status. Evidence suggests that parents may modify their child-feeding practices based on their perceptions of the child's current weight status and risk of overweight.⁴⁷ Interestingly, the accuracy of parent perceptions of their own weight status also appears to reflect their children's weight status. Specifically, results from the USDA Continuing Survey of Food Intakes by Individuals (CSFII) have shown that children of parents who underestimate their own weight status have a greater probability of being overweight, compared to children of parents who correctly estimate their own weight status.⁴⁸ Research also suggests that greater parent nutrition knowledge corresponds to a lower incidence of child overweight and obesity.⁴⁸A basic understanding of nutrition information is vital for monitoring children's eating patterns, identifying energy-dense foods, and recognizing the long-term risks of obesity.

The school environment may also play a critical role in influencing the dietary and physical activity behaviors of children. Schools have the opportunity to provide safe and supportive environments in which students can learn about and practice healthy eating and physical activity behaviors. The American Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics recommends that all schools integrate nutrition services as a component of their health programs in order to improve the nutritional status, overall health, and academic performance of children in the U.S.⁴⁹ Nutrition services may include educational classroom activities, the availability of healthy food choices throughout the school

environment, and efforts to promote the reinforcement of these habits at home and within the community.⁴⁹

For younger children in center-based programs, childcare staff members have an important responsibility to introduce healthy foods and activities. According to the most recent national data available, 61% of children under the age of 5 regularly participate in some form of childcare outside the home, and nearly 5 million, or 23.5%, are enrolled in organized care facilities such as preschools or daycare centers.⁵⁰ Children enrolled in center-based care spend an average of 24.8 hours per week in this setting.⁵¹ Because a significant number of their meals and snacks are consumed at these centers, it is essential that the food environments of childcare facilities are designed to promote healthy habits.

The aforementioned Best Food FITS childcare center study focused on combating childhood obesity by improving the policies and food environments of childcare centers in central Texas. Best Food FITS researchers first conducted environmental assessments of the centers, reviewed their menus, and observed mealtime interactions between childcare center staff and children. Researchers then implemented an educational intervention in the form of a workshop to improve staff nutrition knowledge, thereby supporting improved nutrition and education to children enrolled in the centers. The workshop included lectures and interactive activities related to childhood obesity, child nutrition and physical activity, healthy food environments, and the impact of childcare centers found significant improvements in both the types of foods offered (for example, fewer discretionary calories and more dark green vegetables) and in child nutrition education

(for example, more pictures and posters about physical activity and nutrition and increased encouragement by staff to try new or less favorite foods).⁸

Sectors of Influence

Sectors of influence refer to the organizations and institutions that shape communities; examples include government, health care systems, agriculture, media, and the food industry.²⁵ These sectors can influence society's norms and values related to healthy behaviors and can be important determinants of the accessibility of healthy foods within a community.²⁵ In particular, the influence of the food, beverage, and restaurant industries on nutrition and health cannot be overstated. In recent decades, they have contributed to changes in the national food environment that corresponded to rising rates of childhood obesity.⁵²

In busy contemporary society, convenience is often a necessary factor in dietary decision-making. Consequently, in the last forty years, the number of fast-food restaurants in the country has more than doubled and the proportion of calories obtained from foods consumed outside the home has steadily increased.⁵² On average, foods from both full-service and fast-food restaurants tend to be more energy-dense and less nutrient-dense than foods prepared at home.⁵² Per eating occasion, away-from-home foods have been shown to contain more calories, total fat, saturated fat, and sodium, and less fiber, calcium, and iron than foods prepared at home.⁵³ Research suggests that children who eat at restaurants with their families at least once per week consume more SSBs, more sweet and savory snacks, and less water, and are more likely to be overweight than children whose families do not frequent restaurants as often.^{54,55}

A recent Best Food FITS research initiative focused on the restaurant industry in order to improve the health of local children. This San Marcos, Texas community-based intervention sought to improve the children's menus of local restaurants, thereby increasing children's access to healthy foods.¹ As a result of these efforts, many local businesses eliminated SSB options for children, reduced the number of energy-dense entrees offered, and incorporated more fruit and vegetable options into their children's menus.¹

The advertising industry is another significant sector of influence affecting rates of childhood overweight and obesity. In 2009, children ages 2-5 viewed an average of 10.9 television food advertisements per day.⁵⁶ An alarming 97.8% of food advertisements aimed at children promote products that are high in fat, sugar, or sodium.⁵⁶ A 2006 study by Wiecha and colleagues found that for every hour of television a child watches per day, he or she is likely to consume 167 more calories.⁵⁵ These calories generally come from fast food, salty snacks, and SSBs.⁵⁵ While the establishment of the Children's Food and Beverage Advertising Initiative (CFBAI) in 2006 aimed to reduce direct advertising to young children and to shift the types of foods advertised to them to encourage healthier dietary choices, food company compliance is voluntary and control is accomplished via self-regulation.⁵⁶ However, over 28% of all food and beverage advertisements aimed at children this system of self-regulation, overall improvements in the nutritional quality of foods advertised to children have been negligible.⁵⁷

Thus, further policy initiatives addressing business participation and monitoring are necessary to improve the landscape of food advertising presented to young children.

Societal Factors

The overarching elements of the socio-ecological model are social and cultural norms and values that may govern the attitudes and behaviors of society. These factors are tremendously influential in nutrition and physical activity decision-making. For example, cultural norms may guide the varieties of foods and beverages consumed, the amount and types of physical activity performed, and the ranges of body weight deemed acceptable.²⁵

Hispanic culture is pervasive in South Central Texas, and Hispanic food-related norms and values may contribute to differences in diet quality and nutrient intake compared to non-Hispanic individuals.⁴⁰ Nearly 38% of San Marcos residents and over 70% of San Marcos CISD students are Hispanic.⁵⁸ Hispanic children across the nation suffer disproportionately from overweight and obesity, and while genetics and environmental influences undoubtedly contribute to this elevated risk, certain popular Hispanic dietary practices likely also influence childhood obesity rates in San Marcos.^{39,59} For example, a recent study of dietary patterns of middle school-aged children in Austin, TX found that the consumption of unhealthy foods was considerably higher among Hispanic and black children than white children.³⁹ The Viva la Familia Study, which assessed the diet quality of low socioeconomic status (SES) Hispanic children in Houston, TX, found that 68% of the children's dietary energy came from "sodas, desserts, pizza, snack chips, fruit drinks, fruit juice, processed meats, and burgers that [were] high in fat, sugar, and/or sodium."⁶⁰ Although the diets were often adequate in most nutrients, they generally exceeded guidelines for total fat, saturated fat, cholesterol, added sugar, and sodium.⁶⁰ Studies of traditional Mexican diets have revealed that dairy

products, leafy green vegetables, and fruit are among the food items consumed the least often, and these patterns appear to continue after immigration to the United States.⁶¹ Conversely, the consumption of flavored, sweetened beverages and the significant use of fat in food preparation are common in traditional Mexican diets, and these patterns have been shown to contribute to the elevated rates of overweight and obesity among Mexican-American children.^{61,62} Thus, the Best Food FITS goals of reducing child SSB intake and increasing consumption of whole fruits and vegetables in order to lower the risk of obesity are particularly important given the dietary patterns common throughout the South Central Texas region.

In summary, the habits associated with childhood overweight and obesity are influenced by numerous factors across the individual, interpersonal, industrial, and societal levels. Research supports the use of a comprehensive approach, ideally targeting multiple contributors within the socio-ecological model, to prevent childhood obesity and its related comorbidities.^{63,64} Early childhood is a critical period of development, so it is the most appropriate time for targeted interventions to improve diet quality and prevent obesity.^{12,13}

Diets of Preschool-Aged Children

While a variety of factors play a role in the development of obesity in childhood, poor diet and inadequate physical activity are recognized as central causal factors. Children are predisposed to consume obesogenic diets.⁶⁵ From birth, infants tend to reject bitter foods and accept sweet foods, and a fondness for salty foods is generally apparent by 4 months.⁶⁶ Sweet and salty foods do not require familiarization in order to be accepted.⁶⁶ However, early life exposures to sugar and sodium can determine lasting taste preferences and influence lifelong health outcomes. Excess intake of added sugar is strongly associated with obesity and chronic diseases.⁶⁷ Accordingly, the 2015-2020 Dietary Guidelines for Americans (DGAs) have recommended limiting the consumption of added sugars and solid fats to no more than 10% of total calories each, and the American Academy of Pediatrics suggests encouraging food choices with no added salt or sugar.^{67,68} Still, a 2010 National Cancer Institute study found that nearly 40% of the total calories consumed by children and adolescents ages 2-18 came from solid fats and added sugars, and a more recent CDC study found that added sugars alone make up at least 13% of the total energy intake of US children ages 2-5.^{69,70}

A potential relationship between childhood obesity and protein intake has emerged in recent decades. Indeed, some research has supported Koletzko and colleagues' "early protein hypothesis": the premise that high protein intake in the first year of life causes weight gain in infancy and increases the risk of obesity in childhood and adulthood.⁷¹ The mechanism underlying this hypothesis is likely that high protein intake increases the secretion of insulin and insulin-like growth factor-I, resulting in increased body fat deposition and weight gain.^{72,73} Greater early growth velocity is an important predictor of overweight in childhood and adulthood.⁷³ Unsurprisingly, multiple empirical studies have found that higher protein intake around age two is positively associated with BMI at ages seven⁷⁴ and eight.⁷⁵

Variety in children's diets is imperative. Exposing young children to a variety of healthy foods can facilitate the acceptance of new foods. Literature suggests that the number of different foods that children enjoy remains fairly constant between the ages of 2-3 years and 8 years.⁷⁶ New foods are more likely to be accepted by children ages 2-3

years than by older children.⁷⁶ Thus, offering an assortment of healthy foods to young children encourages the establishment of healthy preferences, which is vital to the prevention of obesity and its associated comorbidities.

Dietary Recommendations for Children Ages 2-5

Familiarity with official dietary guidelines is important for parents and caregivers of toddlers and preschool-aged children. Overestimating children's energy requirements may lead to childhood obesity, while underestimating them could result in parents and caregivers offering inadequate energy to support children's normal growth and development.⁷⁷ Clearly defined guidelines and Dietary Reference Intakes (DRIs) are also imperative for researchers, as they provide a point of reference for evaluating whether observed dietary practices meet the needs of an individual or group.

Recommended Dietary Allowances (RDAs) are the category of DRIs that represent the average daily intake levels sufficient to meet the requirements of almost all healthy individuals in a group. RDAs of key micro- and macronutrients for US toddlers and preschoolers are outlined in Table 2.

	Ages 2-3 years	Ages 4-5 years
Micronutrients		
Calcium (mg/day)	700	1,000
Iron (mg/day)	7	10
Vitamin A (µg RAE ^a /day)	300	400
Vitamin B_6 (mg/day)	0.5	0.6
Vitamin B_{12} (µg/day)	0.9	1.2
Vitamin C (mg/day)	15	25
Vitamin D (µg/day)	15	15
Folate (µg DFE ^b /day)	150	200
Macronutrients		
Carbohydrates (g/day)	130	130
Total Fiber ^c (g/day)	19	25
Protein (g/day)	13	19
Linoleic Acid ^c (g/day)	7	10
α-Linolenic Acid ^c (g/day)	0.7	0.9
a Retinol activity equivalents b Dietary folate equivalents c No RDA available. Recommendations of all healthy individuals in a population	s reflect Adequate Intakes, which an aroup.	are believed to meet the needs

 Table 2. Recommended Dietary Allowances (RDAs) of key micro- and macronutrients for US children ages 2-578,79

In addition to the above DRIs, the American Heart Association (AHA) and the

2015-2020 DGAs have offered more general recommendations for energy and food

group intake for children ages 2-5. These guidelines are outlined in Table 3.

	Ages 2-3 years		Ages 4-5 years	
	Female	Male	Female	Male
Total calories (kcal)	1,000	1,000	1,200	1,400
Milk/dairy (cups)	2	2	2	2
Lean meat/beans (oz.)	2	2	3	4
Fruits (cups)	1	1	1.5	1.5
Vegetables (cups)	1	1	1	1.5
Grains (oz.)	3	3	4	5

Table 3. Calorie and food group recommendations for US toddlers and preschoolers ages 2-5 years by age and $\sec^{68,80}$

The AHA has offered further guidance regarding portion sizes and other considerations. They recommend keeping total fat intake between 30-35% of total kilocalories for children ages 2-3, and between 25-35% of total kilocalories for children and adolescents ages 4 and older.⁸⁰ Most fat should come from sources rich in polyunsaturated and monounsaturated fatty acids, such as seafood, nuts, seeds, and vegetable oils. The AHA also recommends that children consume less than 6 teaspoons (the equivalent of about 100 calories) of added sugars per day and limit intake of SSBs to no more than 8 ounces per week.⁸¹ Children under 2 years of age should not consume foods or beverages containing added sugars, including SSBs.⁸¹

National guidelines also emphasize the importance of whole grains, recommending that at least half of the grains consumed are whole, rather than refined grains.^{25,80} Examples of whole grains include amaranth, barley, buckwheat, millet, quinoa, and wild rice.⁸² Whole grains are rich sources of vitamins, minerals, dietary fiber, and many phytochemicals.⁸³ Research indicates that, in addition to promoting healthy weight maintenance, whole grains in the diets of adults may reduce the risk of stroke by 30-36%, of type 2 diabetes by 21-30%, and of cardiovascular disease by 25-28%.^{84,85} The AHA recommends that children consume a variety of colorful fruits and vegetables daily, and their suggestions for achieving this goal include aiming for at least one fruit or vegetable per meal while limiting juice intake.⁸⁰ The recommended serving sizes for fruits and vegetables are 1/3 cup for children ages 2-3 and ½ cup for children ages 4 and older.⁸⁰

The current dairy recommendation for toddlers and preschoolers ages 2-5 is two cups of milk or other dairy products per day.⁸⁰ The American Academy of Pediatrics (AAP) does not recommend low fat or reduced fat milk before 2 years because of the need for more dietary fat at that age to support rapid growth, but by age 2, the AHA, AAP, and DGAs agree that toddlers should consume lower-fat milks and other dairy products.^{25,80,86}

According to the AAP, the micronutrients that are most commonly deficient in children's diets are calcium, iron, folic acid, and vitamins A, C, and B6.⁸⁷ The American Medical Association, Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics, and AAP do not support routine supplementation of vitamins or minerals for normal, healthy children, instead recommending that children receive the nutrients they need from whole foods.⁸⁷

Efforts to understand and improve the diets of young children are critical, as lifelong food preferences and eating habits develop early in life.⁶⁵ Multiple national and local studies have explored the diets of preschool-aged children. In general, evidence suggests children in America consume diets too high in energy and too low in nutrients.²⁵

National Studies on Preschool Diets

Perhaps the most significant source of national dietary intake data is NHANES, an ongoing program of federally funded, epidemiologic studies that combine personal

interviews with standardized physical examinations, diagnostic procedures, and lab tests to assess the health and nutritional status of adults and children of all ages.⁸⁸ NHANES data are released every two years, allowing researchers to monitor changes in health problems such as childhood obesity and their associated comorbidities over time.⁸⁸

The 2002 and 2008 Feeding Infants and Toddlers Studies (FITS) are another important source of information on the food consumption patterns of young children in the US. Although NHANES and other large national surveys such as the Continuing Survey of Food Intakes by Individuals (CSFII) had provided dietary intake data for young children for decades, the sample sizes for infants and toddlers were small and data on breastfed infants were often excluded.⁸⁹ The FITS studies were therefore the first to offer detailed information about feeding during the first months of life, and the 2008 FITS was among the first to explore and quantify the diets of preschool-aged children.^{89,90} The FITS methodology involved telephone interviews with random samples of US households and the collection of 24-hour dietary recalls using a food model booklet to facilitate portion size estimation.⁹⁰

Findings from both the 2002 and 2008 FITS raised concerns, as approximately 25% of children were found to consume no distinct servings of fruits or vegetables in a given day.^{86,91} Around the age of 2, not one of the top five vegetables reportedly eaten was a dark green leafy vegetable.⁸⁶ Instead, at around 15 months, the most commonly consumed vegetable was French fries.⁸⁶ While less commonly consumed, the other top-five vegetables included cooked broccoli, mashed potatoes, cooked green beans, and cooked corn.⁸⁶ According to the most recent CDC Vital Signs[™] report on the subject, the amount of vegetables consumed by children did not change from 2003-2010, and 90% of

children did not meet vegetable recommendations during that time.⁹²

Rates of fruit intake among preschoolers are somewhat better than those of vegetable intake. The 2008 FITS found that roughly 73% of children ages 2 and 3 years consumed fruit at least once on the day studied, and about 60% drank 100% fruit juice.⁸⁶ The five most commonly consumed fruits were fresh apples, bananas, grapes, strawberries, and either canned applesauce (among 2-year-olds) or raisins (among 3-year-olds).⁸⁶ The most recent CDC Vital Signs[™] report stated that although children ages 2-18 ate 67% more whole fruit in 2010 than in 2003, 60% still did not meet daily recommendations for fruit.⁹²

According to 2008 FITS data, at least 97% of 2- and 3-year olds consumed a grain or grain product on the day studied.⁸⁶ Whole grain consumption varied widely by type of grain food. For example, 40% of children consumed whole grain breakfast cereals, but only 9% ate whole grain bread, and the frequency of whole grains in categories such as crackers, pretzels, and rice cakes was very low.⁸⁶ Between 83 and 98% of toddlers and preschoolers consumed milk at least once on the day studied, and 2% milk was the most commonly consumed type of milk.⁸⁶

Perhaps the greatest area of concern regarding the diets of toddlers and preschoolers is the significant consumption of SSBs, desserts, and salty snacks.⁸⁶ The FITS study findings revealed that over 40% of children ages 2-3 years consumed SSBs, over 70% consumed desserts and candy, and over 26% ate salty snacks, most of which did not include whole grains.⁸⁶ Thus, on the day studied, more children consumed SSBs, desserts, and snacks than distinct portions of fruits or vegetables. These patterns hinder the development of healthy taste preferences and eating habits. Also, the nutrient

requirements of preschoolers are high relative to their energy needs, so there is very little room in their diets for these nutrient-poor, energy dense foods.⁸⁶

Another area of concern, both nationally and locally, is the excessive consumption of pizza among children. A recent study by Powell and colleagues found that pizza is a top contributor to the caloric intake of US children and adolescents, and despite an overall decline in its consumption, pizza is still the second highest source of daily energy among those ages 2-18 years.⁹³ Unsurprisingly, pizza consumption was found to be significantly associated with higher net daily total energy intake as well as higher intakes of saturated fat and sodium.⁹³ In fact, the CDC currently ranks pizza as the top source of sodium in the diets of US children and adolescents ages 2-19 years.⁹⁴

Finally, FITS 2008 findings revealed that micronutrient intakes for children ages 2-3 years were often outside ideal ranges, a finding that is not surprising given the food intake patterns that have been observed. For example, the diets of many toddlers and preschoolers did not meet the estimated average requirement (EAR) for vitamin E, and mean potassium and fiber intakes were below recommended adequate intake (AI) levels. Intakes of folate, preformed vitamin A, zinc, and sodium, on the other hand, were particularly excessive compared to the DRIs, and often exceeded tolerable upper intake levels (UL).⁹⁵

Local Studies on Preschool Diets

Findings from a study on the effects of WIC package changes in south central Texas echoed these disappointing FITS discoveries. In 2012, Reat and colleagues found that consumption of fruits and vegetables among infants and toddlers in San Marcos was disappointingly low.⁹⁶ For example, 31.6% of children ages 1-2 years had zero exposures

to fruits or vegetables on the days studied.⁹⁶ Worse, of the vegetables reported, French fries were the most commonly consumed. Eighty percent of the toddlers studied consumed fruit juice, with nearly half consuming more than 6 fluid ounces, although the AAP recommends that fruit juice consumption should be limited to 4-6 fluid ounces per day for children 1-6 years old.^{96,97} Although the literature is discordant, excessive fruit juice consumption in early childhood has been associated with tooth decay as well as increased risks of overweight and obesity.^{97–99}

Another recent local study, which evaluated the dietary quality of preschoolers' packed lunches, found that many children ages 3-5 years enrolled in early care and education centers across South and Central Texas are sent to school with packed lunches of low dietary quality.¹⁰⁰ Overall, the children's lunches lacked vegetables, plant proteins, and whole grains; 49% of meals packed did not include any vegetables, over 90% did not include any greens, beans, or peas, and 48% did not include any whole grains.¹⁰⁰ These studies highlight a need for further attention to the quality of young children's diets in South Central Texas.

Methods of Assessing Diet Quality

Two broad methods are generally used to study relationships between diet quality and health. First, statistical techniques may be employed to identify dietary patterns and then relate those patterns to particular health outcomes.^{101,102} These methods include procedures such as the analyses of usual nutrient intakes. The second general method for assessing the diets of individuals or groups involves scoring the diets using a particular set of standards in order to create a composite index of diet quality.^{101,102}
Myriad diet quality indices have been developed to assess intake and categorize individuals according to the healthfulness of their diets. Examples include the Diet Quality Index Revised (DQI-R), the Mediterranean Diet Score (MDS), the Alternate Healthy Eating Index (AHEI), and the HEI.¹⁰³ The majority of dietary indices were developed based on adult dietary recommendations, making them inappropriate for studies with child subjects. Because dietary intakes used for HEI scoring are measured on a density (per kilocalorie) basis, this method is appropriate for all subjects 2 years of age and older. The HEI has been determined to be a valid and reliable method of evaluating compliance with the recommendations of the 2010 DGAs and the USDA Food Patterns, and will be used in this study to assess diet quality.¹⁰⁴

Healthy Eating Index

The original HEI was created in 1995 by the USDA Center for Nutrition Policy and Promotion (CNPP) as a tool to assess diet quality in terms of compliance with federal dietary guidelines.¹⁰⁵ The HEI can be used with any defined collection of foods, such as dietary intake data, menus, or market baskets.¹⁰⁵ The instrument was updated to the HEI-2005 in 2008, in order to reflect the 2005 DGAs and the food patterns of the USDA's food guidance system, MyPyramid.¹⁰⁶ In 2012, the index was revised again. The new HEI-2010 evaluates dietary compliance with the recommendations of the 2010 DGAs and the USDA Food Patterns, which outline specific amounts of foods from each of the major food groups and subgroups that should be consumed daily for various total calorie levels in order to help individuals meet Dietary Guidelines recommendations.^{105,107} The HEI-2010 is comprised of nine "Adequacy Components" that assess recommended foods and nutrients to increase, such as Total Fruit and Whole Grains, and three "Moderation

Components" that assess recommended foods and nutrients to decrease, such as Refined Grains.¹⁰⁸

Changes to the HEI from the 2005 to the 2010 version are summarized in Table 4. The first significant change was the replacement of the "Dark Green and Orange Vegetables and Legumes" category with "Greens and Beans;" this increased specificity better captures the vegetable subgroups for which average intakes tend to be furthest from recommended levels.¹⁰⁸ Second, a "Seafood and Plant Proteins" category was added to capture the Dietary Guidelines' new attention to the benefits of seafood consumption and vegetarian diets. Third, a "Fatty Acids" category, focusing on the ratio of poly- and monounsaturated to saturated fatty acids, replaced "Oils and Saturated Fat" in an effort to acknowledge recommendations to use oils to replace solid fats when possible. Finally, a new moderation component, "Refined Grains," was added to replace the adequacy component "Total Grains," in order to better assess the overconsumption of refined grains.

	HEI-2005 HEI-2010				
Ad	Adequacy Components:				
1	Total Fruit	Total Fruit			
2	Whole Fruit	Whole Fruit			
3	Total Vegetables	Total Vegetables			
4	Dark Green and Orange Vegetables and Legumes	Greens and Beans			
5	Total Grains	Whole Grains			
6	Whole Grains Dairy				
7	Milk Total Protein Foods				
8	Meat and Beans Seafood and Plant Proteins				
9	Oils Fatty Acids				
Мо	Moderation Components:				
10	Saturated Fat	Refined Grains			
11	Sodium	Sodium			
12	Calories from SoFAAS ^c	Empty Calories ^d			
a Healthy Eating Index-2005 b Healthy Eating Index-2010 c Includes solid fats, alcoholic beverages, and added sugars. d Includes calories from solid fats, alcohol, and added sugars.					

Table 4. Comparison of HEI-2005^a and HEI-2010^b components¹⁰⁸

Healthy Eating Index-2010 Scoring System

The scoring system of the HEI-2010 uses "scoring standards" as a method of evaluating diets. The system follows a density approach, in which scoring standards are expressed as either a percent of total kilocalories (as with Empty Calories) or amount per 1,000 kilocalories (as with Total Fruit and Sodium).¹⁰⁹ This method is appropriate because dietary recommendations for amounts of food groups, oils, and empty calories are expressed in terms of absolute quantities that vary according to energy intake. Fats are handled differently in this system. They are assessed as a ratio of unsaturated to saturated fatty acids. For the adequacy components of the index (see Table 4), a score of zero is assigned for no intake, and scores increase proportionately as intake increases up to the standard for a maximum score.¹⁰⁹ Reverse scoring is used for the moderation

components, such as refined grains.¹⁰⁸ For the moderation components, intakes at a standard level receive the maximum score, and scores decrease as intakes increase.^{108,109} Thus, for all components, higher scores indicate greater compliance with dietary guidelines. The maximum HEI-2010 score is 100.¹⁰⁸ Generally, scores greater than 80 indicate a good diet, scores between 51 and 80 suggest a need for improvement, and scores below 51 denote a poor diet.^{110,111} The components and scoring standards of the HEI-2010 are outlined in Table 5.

HEI Component	Maximum	Standard for	Standard for Minimum	
HEI Component	Points	Maximum Score	Score of 0	
Total Fruit	5	\geq 0.8 cup/1000 kcal	No fruit	
Whole Fruit	5	\geq 0.4 cup/1000 kcal	No whole fruit	
Total Vegetables	5	\geq 1.1 cup/1000 kcal	No vegetables	
Greens and Beans	5	\geq 0.2 cup/1000 kcal	No dark green vegetables or beans & peas	
Whole Grains	10	≥ 1.5 oz./1000 kcal	No whole grains	
Dairy	10	\geq 1.3 cup/1000 kcal	No dairy	
Total Protein Foods	5	\geq 2.5 oz./1000 kcal	No protein foods	
Seafood & Plant	5	> 0.8 or /1000 keel	No seafood or plant	
Proteins	3	$\geq 0.8 \text{ OZ./ 1000 KCal}$	proteins	
Foto	10	$(PUFAs^{b} +$	(PUFAs +	
Tais	10	$MUFAs^{c})/SFAs^{d} > 2.5$	MUFAs)/SFAs < 1.2	
Refined Grains	10	\leq 1.8 oz./1000 kcal	\geq 4.3 oz./1000 kcal	
Sodium	10	\leq 1.1 g/1000 kcal	\geq 2.0 g/1000 kcal	
Empty Calories	20	\leq 19% of energy	\geq 50% of energy	
a Healthy Eating Index-201	0			
b Polyunsaturated fatty acid	S			
c Monounsaturated fatty aci	ds			
d Saturated fatty acids				

Table 5. HEI-2010^a components and scoring standards^{109,112}

Use of the HEI in Research

The HEI is a useful tool for healthcare professionals, including nutrition and dietetics practitioners, as it helps them to recognize and monitor trends in eating habits and nutrition-related areas of concern.¹¹³ The HEI is also invaluable for researchers. A primary use of the HEI is to monitor the diet quality of the US population as a whole; it

has also been used to assess diets of various subpopulations, such as low-SES Americans.¹¹⁴ Studies of the effects of SES on diet quality have repeatedly found that higher SES is associated with higher HEI scores.^{114–116} Researchers have also used HEI scores to assess the quality of food assistance packages for low-SES Americans. In a recent study, Nguyen and colleagues used HEI scores computed from NHANES data as part of a key outcome variable to determine whether participation in the Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program (SNAP) affects associations between food insecurity, diet quality, and weight among US adults.¹¹⁷ Results of this study indicated that SNAP recipients with marginal, low, and very low levels of food security had higher HEI scores than income-eligible non-participants, indicating that for those most in need, SNAP benefits do improve diet quality.¹¹⁷ Other research that may inform policies related to income and access to healthy foods includes studies using HEI scores to explore correlations between diet cost and quality. Several studies have found strong positive relationships between diet costs and HEI scores.^{118,119} Lower diet costs have been linked to lower consumption of nutrient-dense foods, particularly vegetables, fruits, whole grains, and seafood, and to higher consumption of refined grains, solid fats, alcohol, and added sugars.¹¹⁸

Of course, effective steps to promote healthier diets at low cost depend on accurate analyses of the current food environment. To this end, HEI scores have been used to evaluate the US food supply at both the community and macro level.¹²⁰ HEI scores have also been used to explore specific characteristics of the home food environment, such as parent feeding practices, as they relate to healthy dietary patterns.^{121,122} The HEI is also frequently used to study relationships between dietary

intake and health outcomes, such as cancer risk, obesity, and type 2 diabetes, as well as to analyze the efficacy of nutrition interventions and nutrition education programs.^{101,123–126} Analyzing correlations between HEI scores and blood nutrient concentrations has allowed researchers to identify nutritional biomarkers associated with diet quality and patterns of healthy dietary intake.¹²⁷ Finally, studies using the HEI have provided informative data on grocery shopping habits, such as using a grocery list, that contribute to the healthfulness of dietary patterns.^{128,129}

HEI Studies and Results Across Child Populations

A relative dearth of HEI research with preschool-aged children exists in the US, especially prior to 2013. A review of the studies that have estimated HEI scores among this age group in order to assess the healthfulness of children's diets is presented in Table 6. International studies with subjects within the age group relevant to this study (ages 2-5) have been included as well. Most US researchers utilize NHANES data, so information on small, individual communities is currently scarce.

TADIC OF TACAT	CW OI BUUMED MIAL MAY UBOU THEI BOOLED IO	The share all seases	di escinoni-agen cilitat ell
Reference	Methods	Population	Results
Kennedy et al., 1995 ¹³⁰	Original HEI ^a developed based on 10-component system of 5 food groups, 4 nutrients, and a measure of variety in food intake. Frequency analysis, correlation coefficients, and means were used to analyze the HEI ^a for a representative US sample.	7,463 people ages 2 years and older, surveyed in the 1989 and 1990 CSFII ^b	Mean HEI ^a score: 63.9. People were most likely to score poorly in the fruit, saturated fat, grains, vegetable, and total fat categories. The HEI ^a correlated positively and significantly with most nutrients.
Knol et al., 2005 ¹³¹	Dietary patterns assessed using variables from the Pyramid Servings Database within the CSFII ^b 1994- 1996, 1998. HEI scores were used to validate identified dietary patterns.	Two subsamples of low-income children, aged 2-3 years (n=1,242) and 4-8 years (n=1,506), who participated in CSFII ^b	Distinct dietary patterns identified for both younger and older children. Four patterns similar for both age groups. For $2-3$ year olds, energy intake, overall HEI ^a scores, and $9/10$ HEI ^a component scores differed among the 4 most common dietary patterns. Among 4-8 year olds, energy intake and 6 HEI ^a component scores differed between the 4 most common clusters.
LaRowe et al., 2007 ¹³²	Beverage patterns formed using 24-hour dietary recall diet variables from the 2001-2002 NHANES ^c . Diet quality assessed using energy, micronutrient intakes, and HEI scores.	541 children ages 2- 5 and 793 children ages 6-11 who participated in the 2001-2002 NHANES ^c	In preschoolers, mean HEI ^a differed between fruit juice cluster vs. high-fat milk cluster; however, both fruit juice and high-fat milk clusters had highest micronutrient intakes. Mean HEI ^a differed significantly across beverage patterns for older children, with best diet quality in high-fat milk cluster. Adjusted mean body mass index differed significantly across beverage clusters only in older children.
Fungwe et al., 2009 ¹³³	Subjects divided into 3 age groups (2-5, 6-11, 12- 17). Intakes of various dietary components estimated using the population ratio method. HEI- 2005 component and total scores calculated and used to analyze children's diets.	3,286 children ages 2-17 who participated in the 2003-2004 NHANES ^c	Children ages 2-5 had better diets than children ages 6-11 in regard to Total Fruits, Whole Fruits, Milk, & Extra Calories, and better diets than those ages 12-17 in regard to Total Fruits, Whole Fruits, Whole Grains, Milk, Sodium, & Extra Calories (but worse in regard to Meats & Beans and Oils).
Manios et al., 2009 ¹³⁴	Dietary intake data obtained using a combination of techniques, including weighed food records, 24-hour recalls, and food diaries. HEI ^a scores calculated by summing individual scores (0 to 10) assigned to each of 10 index components.	A representative sample of 2,287 Greek children ages 2-5 years from the GENESIS ^d Study	80% of participants had HEI ^a scores <50, 0.4% had scores >80, overall mean score was 59. Scores significantly higher among boys, children ages 4-5, children participating in moderate to vigorous physical activities for >3 hours/week, children living in rural or small towns, and those whose mothers were employed & had higher educational status. HEI ^a score strongly associated with several macro- and micronutrient intakes.

ad childran ę 40:10 3 LLLL 7 4 stadi. J. Tahla 6 Ravi

I ante n. Cut	Innucu: Incritch of studies diat have used in	reneer on en inne itt	the meets of presention-agen culturen
Reference	Methods	Population	Results
Nunn et al., 2009 ¹³⁵	HEI ^a used to measure dietary quality of children ages 2-5. Logistic regression analysis used to examine association between diet quality and prevalence of early childhood caries.	3,912 children ages 2-5 who participated in the 1988-1994 NHANES ^c	Children with the best dietary practices (those within the uppermost HEI ^a tertile) were 44% less likely to exhibit severe early childhood caries compared to children with the worst dietary practices (those within the lowest HEI ^a tertile).
Freedman et al., 2010 ¹³⁶	Population distribution of usual HEI-2005 total and component scores estimated. Monte Carlo method used to estimate distribution of the 5 episodically consumed HEI components: total fruit, whole fruit, whole grains, dark-green/orange vegetables and legumes, and milk.	17,311 persons ages 2 years and older who participated in the 2001–2004 NHANES ^c	The distributions of 3 critical components were presented: Total Vegetables (range 0–5; population mean 3.21), Whole Grains (range 0–5; mean 1.0), and SoFAAS ^e (range 0–20; mean 8.41). Among those ≤ 18 years, a particularly high percentage of the population (46-71%) had total vegetable scores <2.5 .
O'Neil et al., 2011 ¹³⁷	24-hour dietary recalls used to determine intake. Diet quality determined using the HEI-2005. Covariate-adjusted means, standard errors, and prevalence rates determined for each candy consumption group. Odds ratios used to determine likelihood of associations with weight status and diet quality.	7,049 children ages 2-13 and 4,132 adolescents ages 14- 18 who participated in the 1999-2004 NHANES ^c	Overall diet quality was very poor in all groups, regardless of whether candy was consumed. Although total candy consumers had higher intakes of total energy and added sugars than non-consumers, candy consumption did not adversely affect health risk markers such as blood pressure, blood lipid levels, and cardiovascular risk factors in children and adolescents.
Rauber et al., 2012 ¹³⁸	Diet quality was evaluated according to the HEI ^a . Statistical analysis was performed using SPSS ^f . Chi-squared analysis was used to identify independent variables associated with higher dietary quality (total HEI ^a score >80 and individual HEI ^a component scores >75th percentile).	345 low-SES ^g children ages 6 months and 3-4 years old from Sao Leopoldo in southern Brazil	The mean total HEI ^a score was 65.7. Only 9.6% of the children had a "good" diet. No significant associations were detected between overall diet quality and the maternal/family characteristics studied. Variables of importance included family income, paternal employment, and level of maternal education.
Erinosho et al., 2013 ¹¹²	Foods and beverages offered or served to children were entered into the NDSR ^h software to generate ingredients, food groups, calories/energy, and nutrients. Each HEI-2005 component was generated and averaged across 2 days.	120 children ages 3- 5 in 20 North Carolina child-care centers	All centers met maximum score for Milk. A majority also met max scores for Total Fruit, Whole Fruit, & Sodium. Mean scores for Total Vegetables, Dark Green/Orange Vegetables & Legumes, Total Grains, Whole Grains, Oils, and Meat/Beans were significantly lower than max scores. Mean scores for saturated fat and calories from solid fats & added sugars were troubling.

rhildr -Ľ 4 4 ï 4 ÷ НГГ^а 4 4 ì -4 • ρ 5 . Č V h E

lie uleus of preschool-ageu chilurell	Results	n all years, total scores ranged from 47-50% of maximum. Scores for Dairy and Total Protein Foods were closest to standards, while scores for Greens & Beans and Whole Grains were farthest from standards. Total Fruit and Whole Fruit intakes were significantly higher in 2007-2008 than in the other time periods, and empty calories intakes were ignificantly lower in 2007-2008, resulting in increased cores.	Children's diets, on average, are far from ideal. Only about 5% of children have a score of 69 or greater and another 10% nave scores of 41 or lower. This analysis suggests that rirtually all children in the US have suboptimal diets and that t sizeable fraction (10%) have alarmingly low scores (41 or ower).	Strong associations were found between parent reported eeding habits and 1) repetitive and ritualistic behaviors, 2) ensory features, and 3) externalizing and internalizing behavior. There was a lack of association between feeding behaviors and the social and communication deficits of ASD and cognitive levels. Increases in the degree of problematic eeding behaviors predicted decreases in nutritional adequacy.	(8 months after WIC ¹ food package revisions, significant lecreases in total fat & saturated fat and increases in dietary fiber & overall diet quality were observed among Hispanic children. No significant changes were observed for any other group. Reduced-fat milk intake significantly increased for African American & Hispanic children, whereas whole milk ntake significantly decreased for all groups.
ET SCOFES IN ASSESS L	Population	2,996, 3,237, and 1 2,703 children ages 2 2-17 who s participated in the v 2003-2004, 2005- 1 2006, and 2007-2008 c NHANES ^c , s s NHANES ^c , s s respectively s s	US children ages 2-8 C who participated in the 2001-2004 H NHANES ^c a a	256 children with autism spectrum disorders, ages 2-11, recruited from 5 Autism Speaks Autism Treatment Network sites f	Hispanic and African American parent-child dyads: 209 mothers and 164 children ages 2-3.5 at baseline who were enrolled in WIC ⁱ in i Chicago, IL
ILIIUCU. NEVIEW OI SUUUICS UIIAI IIAVE USEU IL	Methods	HEI-2010 scores were estimated using 1 day of dietary intake data. Intakes of energy, fatty acids, sodium, and alcohol were calculated. Food group intakes for 2003-08 were calculated using the MyPyramid Equivalents Database, CNPP ^{1, S} addendum to that database, and the CNPP ¹ 2003-04 fruit database.	Dietary intake data was used to calculate the 12 HEI-2005 components + energy. Variables analyzed included age, gender, race & interaction terms. 2 dummy variables were employed: (1) whether the recall was for a weekend day, and (2) whether the recall was the first or second collected.	Relationships between feeding and mealtime behaviors, repetitive and ritualistic behaviors, sensory behaviors, and externalizing and internalizing behaviors were examined. Whether or not feeding habits were predictive of nutritional adequacy (determined by individual HEI ^a scores) was also explored.	Dietary intake data were collected via 24-hour dietary recalls in the summer of 2009, immediately before WIC ¹ food package revisions occurred in Chicago IL, and at 18 months following the food package change. Generalized estimating equation models were used to compare diet quality using HEI ^a scores at these two time points.
Table 0. Coll	Reference	Hiza et al., 2013 ¹³⁹	Carroll, 2014 ¹⁴⁰	Johnson et al., 2014 ¹⁴¹	Kong et al., 2014 ¹⁴²

hild Ę ï 4 4 HET^a 4 th ì 4 4 • ρ -÷ Č V Table

Reference	Methods	Population	Results
Leal et al., 2015 ¹⁴³	Food intake data was collected via FFQ ^k . Dietary quality was measured according to an adapted HEI.	556 children ages 2- 5 living in the urban area of Pelotas, Brazil	Mean HEI score was 74.4, indicating the children's diets need improvement. Mean scores were significantly higher among girls and in children from families with income between 1-3 minimum wages. Vegetable intake was below the recommended level, while foods categorized as oils and fats, sugars, candies, chocolates, and snacks were consumed in excess.
Romo-Palafox et al., 2015 ¹⁰⁰	The dietary quality of preschoolers' sack lunches were evaluated using the HEI-2010 in order to provide the children's parents with guidance to increase the healthfulness of their child's lunches.	607 parent-child dyads (children ages 3-5 years) from 30 early care and education centers in Central and South Texas	Mean HEI-2010 total scores were 58 for lunches packed and 52 for lunches consumed. Mean HEI ^a component scores for packed and consumed lunches were lowest for Greens and Beans, Total Vegetables, Seafood and Plant Proteins, and Whole Grains; and highest for Empty Calories, Total Fruit, Whole Fruit, and Total Protein Foods.
O'Neil et al., 2015 ¹⁴⁴	Dietary intake data collected via one 24-h recall. Diet quality measured using HEI-2010. Regression analyses performed to determine demographic, nutrient intake, diet quality, and weight/adiposity differences between oatmeal consumers and non- consumers. Logistic regression used to calculate odds ratios for weight measures and obesity.	14,690 children ages 2-18 who participated in the 2001-2010 NHANES ^c	Oatmeal consumption was associated with better nutrient intake, better diet quality, and lower risks for central adiposity and obesity.
Tester et al., 2016 ¹⁴⁵	Dietary intake data collected via two 24-h recalls. Diet quality measured using HEI-2010. Linear regression used to examine differences in HEI-2010 scores attributable to 2009 WIC ¹ package change.	1197 low-income children ages 2-4 who participated in the 2003-2008 and 2011-2012 NHANES ^c	The WIC ¹ package changes were associated with an adjusted average of 3.7 additional HEI-2010 points for WIC ¹ participants compared to nonparticipants. In particular, the revisions were associated with a 3.4-fold increase in the Greens and Beans component score for participants compared to nonparticipants.
a Healthy Eating b Continuing Sur c National Health d Growth, Exercis e Solid fats, alcoh f Statistical Packa	Index vey of Food Intakes by Individuals and Nutrition Examination Survey se, and Nutrition Epidemiological Study In preSchoolers tolic beverages, and added sugars ge for the Social Sciences	g Socio-econom h Nutrition Data i Center for Nutr j Special Supple k Food Frequenc	c status System for Research ition Policy and Promotion mental Nutrition Program for Women, Infants, and Children y Questionnaire

Table 6. Continued. Review of studies that have used HEI^a scores to assess the diets of preschool-aged children

The most recent comprehensive national data on HEI-2010 scores of children's diets are represented by the results of the 2013 study by Hiza and colleagues reported in Table 6.¹³⁹ Dietary intake data from the 2003-04, 2005-06, and 2007-08 NHANES were used to generate HEI-2010 scores for children and adolescents ages 2-17 years. Overall, the diet quality of the population studied fell far short of national guidelines. Total HEI-2010 scores ranged from 47-50 out of a maximum score of 100, and average scores for all individual components fell below the standards. The highest component scores (i.e. those that were closest to the standards) were found for Dairy and Total Protein Foods, and, perhaps unsurprisingly, the lowest scores were generally similar across the three time periods studied, with a few exceptions. The slight increase in total HEI-2010 scores is attributable to significantly higher intakes of Total Fruit and Whole Fruit and lower consumption of Empty Calories in 2007-08 compared to previous years.¹³⁹

Objectives

The primary objective of this thesis was to use the HEI-2010 to assess the diet quality of a sample of children ages 2-5 enrolled in childcare centers in San Marcos, Texas. The population of San Marcos is of interest because the average income and ethnic makeup of the city place its children at increased risk of obesity and malnutrition. This project is intended to contribute to a community needs assessment. Previous studies in this geographic region have found that many toddlers and preschoolers are not meeting dietary recommendations either at childcare centers or at home.^{96,146} Based on the results of these regional studies, current knowledge of national trends, the demographics and socioeconomic status of San Marcos, and preliminary data on the nutrient intakes of this

population, the author hypothesized that the foods and beverages consumed by children ages 2-5 in San Marcos would be of below-average quality and would not meet the maximum scores for any HEI-2010 components.^{59,96,100}

The secondary objective of this thesis project was to investigate relationships between HEI-2010 scores and data collected through a parent survey, such as participants' demographic information. Understanding these relationships may be particularly helpful in shaping future nutrition interventions in south central Texas.

The third objective of this thesis was to calculate HEI-2010 scores for a national sample of children ages 2-5 in order to compare the scores of children in San Marcos to those of a more representative sample.¹

¹ This third objective was added after the original thesis proposal.

III. METHODS

In spring 2014, the research team recruited a convenience sample of 173 parents of children ages 2-5 from childcare centers and one pre-kindergarten center in Hays County, TX. Centers were located primarily within the city of San Marcos. Parents were recruited outside of centers when picking their child up from care. After providing informed consent, parents completed a survey that collected information about their home food environments and feeding practices. Questions, adapted from existing assessment tools, were intended to collect data on 5 main constructs, including: 1) parent feeding practices, including monitoring/modeling of healthy eating behaviors, pressure to eat, and child involvement in preparation; 2) parent nutrition knowledge, including causes and risks of obesity and recommendations for child intake; 3) parent self-efficacy, including food selection, meal planning, and self-confidence in choosing healthy foods; 4) parent perceptions, including child weight status, self-weight status, and barriers to healthy eating habits; and 5) the home food environment, including mealtime structure and the availability/accessibility of food. These constructs and the general survey design are outlined in the Appendix.

Of the 173 parents who completed the survey, 124 parents agreed to participate in 24-hour recall interviews. During the telephone interviews, which were conducted by trained graduate and undergraduate nutrition students, researchers used Nutrition Data System for Research 2013 (NDSR) software, which employs a multiple-pass 24-hour recall method to obtain and record all dietary intake data from the previous day.¹⁴⁷ NDSR was developed by the Nutrition Coordinating Center (NCC) of the University of Minnesota, Minneapolis, MN.¹⁴⁷ Output from NDSR allows researchers to examine

nutrient intakes, as well as patterns of eating behavior, such as the number of meals and snacks consumed, and food group intake, such as the amounts of fruits and vegetables consumed.²⁶ A booklet containing two-dimensional images of food models, issued to parents during recruitment, was used to help facilitate the estimation of portion size during the phone calls. Parents were given a \$5 grocery store gift card for completing the survey and an additional \$5 grocery gift card for completing the 24-hour diet recall. All aspects of this study were approved by the Texas State University Institutional Review Board.

Assessment of San Marcos Children's Diets Based on the HEI-2010

NDSR output was imported into Microsoft® Excel 2013 software,¹⁴⁸ which was used to create the variables necessary to determine HEI-2010 component scores for each child (for components and scoring criteria, see Table 5).¹⁰⁸ Component scores were calculated by adding together specific NDSR subgroups, and the final measures for each component conformed to the units specified by the index (see Table 5).¹⁴⁹ The subgroups for some components, such as those for Whole Grains and Total Protein Foods, were generated by NDSR in the appropriate units.¹⁴⁹ Others had to be converted to the units required by the HEI-2010 before component scores could be calculated. The subgroups for Total Fruit, Whole Fruit, Total Vegetables, and Greens and Beans were divided by 2 because the servings for these subgroups in the NCC Food Serving Count System used by NDSR were in ½ cup equivalents rather than 1 cup equivalents.¹⁴⁹ The sodium output from NDSR output file 04 (sodium intake in milligrams) was divided by 1,000 in order to present the HEI-2010 Sodium component in terms of grams per 1,000 kilocalories.¹⁴⁹ Finally, the Dairy subgroup DOT0100 (frozen dairy desserts) was divided by three because 1.5 cups of a frozen dairy dessert is considered a cup equivalent in the dairy group, but 0.5 cups of frozen dairy dessert is considered a serving in the NCC Food Serving Count System.¹⁴⁹

Due to the average protein content of the VEG0700 (legumes) subgroup, its assignment to the appropriate HEI-2010 components depended on whether the Total Protein Foods standard was met without it.¹⁴⁹ Specifically, if the Total Protein Foods estimate for a participant was less than 2.5 ounce equivalents per 1,000 kilocalories, the VEG0700 subgroup was included in the Total Protein Foods and Seafood and Plant Proteins groups and excluded from the Total Vegetables and Greens and Beans groups.¹⁴⁹ Conversely, if the Total Protein Foods standard of 2.5 ounce equivalents per 1,000 kilocalories was met without the inclusion of the VEG0700 subgroup, the VEG0700 subgroup was included in both the Total Vegetables and Greens and Beans components instead of in the Total Protein Foods and Seafood and Plant Proteins components.¹⁴⁹

In order to estimate the "solid fats" subgroup of the Empty Calories component, intake of saturated fatty acids and *trans* fatty acids were summed and used as a proxy. This was necessary because solid fats were not added as an NDSR subgroup until the 2014 version of the software (and the 2013 version was used during data collection).¹⁴⁹ This approach is consistent with the 2015 Dietary Guidelines, which recommend that polyunsaturated and monounsaturated fatty acids make up the primary source of dietary fat; saturated fatty acids should make up no more than 10% of daily caloric intake, and *trans* fatty acids should be consumed as infrequently as possible.^{67,146} The detailed plan used to quantify the 12 HEI-2010 component scores is outlined in Table 7.

Table /. Nichious	ior carculating rest-form component scores		
Component	NDSR ^b Output Subgroups Used		Method
Total Fruit	FRU0100, FRU0200, FRU0300, FRU0400, FRU	0500, FRU0600, FRU0700 ^d	(Subgroup total / 2) / (total daily
Whole Fruit	FRU0300, FRU0400, FRU0500, FRU0600, FRU	0000q	energy intake ^c / 1,000)
Whole Grains	Whole grains in ounce equivalents ^c		Subgroup total / (total daily
Refined Grains	Refined grains in ounce equivalents ^c		energy intake ^c / 1,000)
Dairy	DMF0100, DMR0100, DML0100, DMN0100, D DML0300, DML0400, DCF0100, DCR0100, DC	MF0200, DMR0200, DML0200, JL0100, DCN0100, DYF0100,	
	DYR0100, DYL0100, DYF0200, DYR0200, DY DOT0300, DOT0400, DOT0500, DOT0600 ^d	L0200, DYN0100, DOT0100 / 3,	
Total Protein Foods	MRF0100, MRL0100, MRF0200, MRL0200, MI	RF0300, MRL0300, MRF0400,	Subgroup total ^e / (total daily
	MRL0400, MCL0200, MRF0500, MPF0100, MF MFL0100, MFF0200, MSL0100, MSF0100, MC	PL0100, MPF0200, MFF0100, F0100, MCL0100, MOF0100,	energy intake $^{\circ}$ / 1,000)
	MOF0200, MOF0300, MOF0400, MOF0500, M0	OF0600, MOF0700 ^d	
Seafood and Plant	MFF0100, MFL0100, MFF0200, MSL0100, MSI	F0100, MOF0500, MOF0600,	
Proteins	MOF0700 ^d		
Total Vegetables	VEG0100, VEG0200, VEG0300, VEG0400, VE	G0800, VEG0450, VEG0600,	(Subgroup total ^{f} / 2) / (total
	$VEG0900$, $VEG0500^d$		daily energy intake ^c / 1,000)
Greens and Beans	$\rm VEG0100^d$		
Fatty Acids	Total monounsaturated fatty acids (MUFAs), tota	al polyunsaturated fatty acids	Sum of total PUFAs and
	(PUFAS), and total saturated fatty acids (SFAS)		MUFAS / total SFAS
Sodium	Sodium intake in milligrams ^c		(Sodium variable / 1,000) /
			(total daily energy intake ^c / 1,000)
Empty Calories	Saturated fat in grams, trans fat in grams, added s	sugars in grams, and alcohol in grams ^{c}	[(Saturated fat $x 9$) + (trans fat x
			9) + (sugars x 4) / total daily energy intake ^c x 100
a Healthy Eating Index- b Nutrition Data Systen	-2010 1 for Research	fIf the Total Protein Foods standard wasVEG0700, then VEG0700 should be incl	met without including subgroup aded in the calculation for these
c From NDSR output fi	le 04	components.	
d From NDSR output fi	le 09	1	
e If the Total Protein Fo	ods estimate for a participant is ≤ 2.5 ounce		
equivalents per 1,000 k	Ilocalories, include the VEG0/00 (legumes) subgroup,		
muluplied by 2, in the c	alculations for these components.		

Table 7. Methods for calculating HEI-2010^a component scores¹⁴⁹

Statistical Analysis

After individual and overall sample HEI scores were calculated, the scores were imported into IBM SPSS Statistics, version 23.0.¹⁵⁰ Children's diets were then categorized into the appropriate HEI-2010 score category ("Poor," "Needs Improvement," and "Good").¹¹¹ Differences in mean HEI-2010 component scores between these three score categories were evaluated using one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA). Post hoc multiple comparison tests (Tukey HSD or Games-Howell, depending on the significance of the Levene's tests) were used to further analyze significant ANOVA *F* results.

One-way ANOVA was used to assess differences between the mean intakes of 7 micronutrients (vitamins A, B₆, B₁₂, C, and folate, and minerals calcium and iron), carbohydrates, fiber, protein, linoleic acid (an ω -6 polyunsaturated fatty acid [PUFA]), and α -linolenic acid (an ω -3 PUFA) from NDSR output file 04. *F*-tests were used to assess significant differences in mean intake of these nutrients between the three HEI score category groups. Post hoc Tukey HSD tests were used to further analyze significant ANOVA *F* results. Nutrient adequacy ratios (NARs) were calculated to assess the adequacy of the micro- and macronutrient intakes.¹⁵¹ This method of determining nutrient adequacy of the diet is supported for children in this age range.¹⁵¹ NARs were calculated by dividing the child's intake of each nutrient by the nutrient's RDA, or if no RDA exists, by the nutrient's AI, and then multiplying by 100.

Because previous research with this sample¹⁵² indicated that protein intake far exceeded recommendations, and because high protein intake, particularly protein from animal sources, has been associated with increased risks of overweight and obesity in

young children, differences in mean intakes of animal and plant-based protein between the three HEI-2010 score categories were evaluated using one-way ANOVA.^{71,73–75} The relationships between animal and plant-based protein intake and HEI-2010 scores were explored using bivariate Pearson correlations. Pearson correlations were also calculated to examine the relationships between diet quality and total protein intake in grams as well as protein intake as a percentage of total calories.

As the primary goals of Best Food FITS projects are to increase children's intake of fruits and vegetables and decrease intake of SSBs, intakes of these items were investigated further. To compare total HEI-2010 scores of those that met the maximum score for the Total Vegetables component to those that did not, we first created dichotomous (dummy) variables (e.g. met recommendations, did not meet recommendations). Then, we compared the mean HEI-2010 scores using independent samples t-tests. This same protocol was also used for the Total Fruit component. Fruit and vegetable servings for this analysis were determined by adding the NDSR subgroups used to calculate the Whole Fruit and Total Vegetables components of the HEI-2010 (see Table 7).

Sugar sweetened beverages were handled differently because NDSR output does not include defined subgroups to reflect SSB intake. To calculate daily servings of SSBs, data from 10 NDSR output file 04 subgroups were added together (see Table 8). Although the Dairy-based Sweetened Meal Replacement/Supplement (DOT0500), Sweetened Flavored Milk Beverage Powder with Non-fat Dry Milk (DML0300), and Sweetened Flavored Milk Beverage Powder without Non-fat Dry Milk (SWT0600) subgroups are not NDSR beverage categories, they were included in this analysis because current literature includes sweetened milks and non-dairy beverage concentrates under

the umbrella of SSBs.^{153,154}

Subgroup	Name	Example	Serving Size
BVS0100	Sweetened Coffee		8 fluid ounces
BVS0200	Sweetened Coffee Substitutes		8 fluid ounces
BVS0300	Sweetened Fruit Drinks	Capri-Sun®	8 fluid ounces
BVS0400	Sweetened Soft Drinks	Sprite®	8 fluid ounces
BVS0500	Sweetened Tea		8 fluid ounces
BVS0600	Sweetened Water		8 fluid ounces
BVS0700	Nondairy-based Sweetened Meal	Gatorade®	8 fluid ounces
	Replacement/Supplement		
DOT0500	Dairy-based Sweetened Meal	Carnation Instant	1 cup
	Replacement/Supplement	Breakfast®	
DML0300	Sweetened Flavored Milk Beverage	Cocoa packets	1 cup prepared
	Powder with Non-fat Dry Milk		
SWT0600	Sweetened Flavored Milk Beverage	Nestle Nesquik®	1 cup prepared
	Powder without Non-fat Dry Milk		

 Table 8. Nutrition Data System for Research (NDSR) subgroups used in sugarsweetened beverage analysis¹⁵⁵

scores by SSB intake was explored using one-way ANOVA. Finally, the children's total

serving, and 1 or more servings). Then, the variance in the children's total HEI-2010

Dummy variables were created for SSB intake (i.e., 0 servings, less than 1

fruit, total vegetable, and total SSB intake in servings were analyzed as predictors of HEI scores using a multivariate linear regression model.

Analysis of Relationships Between Survey Variables and Individual Diet Scores

Parent survey questions organized by construct are itemized in the Appendix. Subsequent confirmatory factor analysis (data not reported) revealed that the survey questions do not adequately measure the five constructs. Thus, objective 2 was modified to investigate relationships between individual survey questions and HEI-2010 scores. The survey questions selected for inclusion in this analysis are outlined by theme in Table 9. Answers for these questions were given either as multiple-choice selections or indications on five-point Likert scales. When self-reported height and weight values for parents and children were available, these data were used to calculate BMI.

Theme	Survey Question
	What race/ethnicity do you consider yourself?
Socio-demographic	What is the highest education you have completed or are in
information	the process of completing?
mormation	What is your annual household income?
	Are you currently working? If so, how much?
Food environment:	Do you use any of the following resources? (WIC, SNAP,
accessibility	Temporary Assistance for Needy Families [TANF], food
accessionity	bank or food pantry, reduced or free school meals)
	How often are home-cooked foods served to the members
	of your household for dinner?
Food environment:	How often are fast foods served to the members of your
mealtime structure	household for dinner?
	How often is sit down restaurant food served to the
	members of your household for dinner?
Parent knowledge related to health behaviors How many hours does your child watch TV per day?	
	How often do you model healthy eating for your child by
	eating healthy foods yourself?
	How often do you eat together as a family?
	If your child says, "I'm not hungry," how often do you try
Parent feeding practices	to get him/her to eat anyway?
	How often do you offer your child his/her favorite foods in
	exchange for good behavior?
	How often do you encourage your child to eat less?
	How often to you plan to have vegetables at dinner?
	I am sure I can find time to prepare healthy meals.
Parant salf afficacy	I am sure I can plan meals ahead of time to make sure they
I arent sen-enneary	include foods like vegetables, fruits, beans, and whole
	grains.

 Table 9. Parent survey questions selected for inclusion in diet quality analysis

Statistical Analysis

Differences in HEI scores between dichotomous variables were analyzed using independent samples t-tests. One-way ANOVA was used to explore differences in HEI scores by parent BMI category and the survey questions listed above. Post hoc multiple comparison tests (Tukey HSD) were used to further analyze significant ANOVA *F*

results. After reviewing the mean differences in HEI-2010 scores among the survey responses, correlations were calculated to further examine select variables that appeared to have notable trends, specifically parent education, frequency of fast-food meals, and responses to the question, "How often do you model healthy eating for your child by eating healthy foods yourself" (hereafter, "healthy modeling"). Parent education and frequency of fast-food meals were relatively normally distributed, so Pearson correlations were computed to examine the associations between these variables and diet quality as measured by the HEI-2010. Responses to the healthy modeling survey question skewed left, violating the assumption of normality, so the Spearman rho statistic was calculated.

The survey question, "Do you use any of the following resources: WIC, SNAP, TANF, food bank or food pantry, or reduced or free school meals," could not be analyzed in the same way as the other survey variables because responses were not mutually exclusive. Responses were recoded to reflect the number of resources used (i.e., 0, 1, or > 1) and differences in mean HEI scores between these groups were analyzed using oneway ANOVA. Participation or non-participation in individual food assistance programs was also coded as dichotomous variables, and differences in mean HEI-2010 scores between participants and non-participants of each resource were tested using independent samples t-tests. Finally, mean differences in mean HEI-2010 scores between WIC participants, SNAP recipients, and individuals participating in both WIC and SNAP were analyzed using one-way ANOVA.

Comparison of Local HEI-2010 Scores with National Scores

In order to compare the HEI-2010 scores of San Marcos preschoolers with those of a national sample of preschoolers, it was necessary to first calculate national HEI-2010

scores using age-matched NHANES data. NHANES datasets from the 2009-2010 and 2011-2012 survey cycles were downloaded from the CDC NHANES website¹⁵⁶ and imported into Statistical Analysis System (SAS) University Edition software (SAS Institute Inc., Cary, NC, Version 9.4 M3). The NHANES data files used were DR1TOT_G (2009-2010) and DR1TOT_F (2011-2012), which detailed one day's total nutrient intake for each participant, and DEMO_G (2009-2010) and DEMO_F (2011-2012), which contained the participants' demographic data. The nutrient intake files were merged with Food Patterns Equivalents Database (FPED) files, which translated the amounts of foods eaten into cup and ounce equivalents consistent with the units of measurement used for HEI scoring standards (see Table 5). The HEI-2010 SAS macro, available at the National Cancer Institute website, was used to calculate the component and total scores from the NHANES datasets.¹⁵⁷ Using SAS coding, the demographic and dietary intake data used was limited to children ages 2-5. Finally, to compare local and national HEI scores, means and 95% confidence intervals were calculated.

IV. RESULTS

Demographic information for the San Marcos children and caregivers is reported

in Table 10.

Table 10. Socio-demographic characteristics of	children and	caregivers	sampled from
childcare centers in San Marcos, TX			

Child (n=124)	Frequency		
Eamola	(% of total)		
$\mathbf{P}\mathbf{M}^{\mathbf{b}}$ as to come $(\mathbf{p}-70)^{\mathbf{a}}$	08 (34.8)		
Underweight	5 (7 1)		
Normal weight	3(7.1)		
Normai weight	30(34.3)		
Overweight	9 (12.9)		
	18 (25.7)		
$\frac{\text{Caregiver (n=124)}}{22.5 + (.9)}$		Energlesument status	
Age (mean = 32.5 ± 6.8)	21(160)	Employment status	20 (24.2)
18-25	21 (16.9)	Unemployed	30 (24.2)
26-40	92 (74.2)	Employed part-time	22 (17.7)
41-65	11 (8.9)	Employed full-time	72 (58.1)
Race/ethnicity		BMI ^e category (n=120) ^{ac}	- (1 - 2)
White	63 (50.8)	Underweight	5 (4.2)
Hispanic/Latino	54 (43.5)	Normal weight	48 (40.0)
Black	6 (4.8)	Overweight	35 (29.2)
Asian	1 (0.8)	Obese	32 (26.7)
Household income (n=122) ^a		Use of food assistance resources	
\$0-10,000	18 (14.8)	WIC ^a	26 (21.0)
\$10,001 - 20,000	20 (16.4)	SNAP ^e	34 (27.4)
\$20,001 - 40,000	22 (18.0)	TANF ^r	2 (1.6)
\$40,001 - 75,000	23 (18.9)	Food bank or food pantry	2 (1.6)
\$75,001+	39 (32.0)	Reduced or free school meals	31 (25.0)
		More than one resource used	27 (21.8)
Role in household		Number of children in household	
Mother	115 (9.3)	1-2	79 (63.7)
Father	7 (5.6)	3-4	37 (29.8)
Grandparent	2 (1.6)	5+	8 (6.5)
Level of education $(n=111)^{a}$			
Less than high school	10 (9)		
High school/GED	31 (28)		
College degree	41 (37)		
Graduate degree	29 (26)		
a Lower sample number due to miss	ing data	d Special Supplemental Nutrition Progra	am for Women,
b Body mass index		Infants, and Children	
c Mean parent BMI = 26.6 ± 5.6		e Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Pro	ogram
		I Temporary Assistance for Needy Fami	lies

Assessment of San Marcos Children's Diets Based on the HEI-2010

Mean HEI-2010 component and total scores for subjects in San Marcos are included in Table 11. The mean total HEI-2010 score (62.1) was lower than the optimal score of 100, and average scores for all components were below the standards. The lowest total score was 33.3 and the highest score was 93.5, indicating that no child met the recommendations for all components. Still, over half the children met the maximum component scores for Total Fruit, Whole Fruit, Dairy, and Total Protein Foods. Mean scores for Dairy and Empty Calories were closest to meeting the standards (8.78/10 or 87.8% and 17.5/20 or 87.5%, respectively). Mean scores for Greens and Beans and Fatty Acids were furthest from meeting the standards (0.98/5 or 19.6% and 3.16/10 or 31.6%, respectively), indicating the children ate far less than the recommended amounts of darkgreen vegetables, beans, and unsaturated fatty acids.

HEI-2010 Component	Optimum Score	Mean Score ± Standard Deviation	% Meeting Recommendation (n)
Total Fruit	5	3.79 ± 1.58	50.8 (63)
Whole Fruit	5	3.95 ± 1.59	58.9 (73)
Total Vegetables	5	2.21 ± 1.54	10.5 (13)
Greens and Beans	5	0.98 ± 1.80	12.1 (15)
Whole Grains	10	4.97 ± 3.69	16.9 (21)
Dairy	10	8.78 ± 2.32	66.9 (83)
Total Protein Foods	5	4.00 ± 1.42	50.8 (63)
Seafood & Plant Proteins	5	1.97 ± 2.34	32.3 (40)
Fatty Acids	10	3.16 ± 3.44	8.90 (11)
Refined Grains	10	5.83 ± 3.55	22.6 (28)
Sodium	10	4.95 ± 3.60	15.3 (19)
Empty Calories	20	17.5 ± 3.25	33.9 (42)
Total HEI-2010 Score	100	62.1 ± 12.1	0 (0)
a Healthy Eating Index-2010			

Table 11. HEI-2010^a component and total scores for participating San Marcos children ages 2-5

Only 8% of the children's diets met the USDA CNPP's criteria for a "Good" diet

(scores above 80).¹¹⁰ Approximately 17% fell below the standard for a "Poor" diet

(scores below 50), while nearly 75% fell in the category, "Needs Improvement" (see Figure 2).



HEI-2010 Evaluation

Figure 2. Evaluation of Healthy Eating Index-2010 scores based on USDA Center for Nutrition Policy and Promotion (CNPP) diet quality standards¹¹⁰

Mean HEI-2010 component scores by HEI-2010 score category are detailed in Table 12. Statistically significant differences were found among the three levels of HEI-2010 score quality for all HEI-2010 components, except Dairy. In general, individual component scores of children whose diets were classified as "Good" were significantly higher than those of children in the other score categories. Once again, Dairy was the exception; it was the only component for which mean scores were lower among children whose diets were considered "Good" than children in either of the other two diet quality categories.

presencorers .	<u>y seore ea</u>	<u> </u>							
				10 Score (Quality	Ranges			
		0-50 (n= "Poo	=22) r"	51-80 (1 "Nee Improve	n=92) eds ement"	81-100 ("Goo	(n=10) od"		
HEI-2010 Component	Optimum Score	Mean	SD	Mean	SD	Mean	SD	F	р
Total Fruit	5	2.60 ^{b,c}	1.71	4.01 ^b	1.44	4.45 ^c	1.24	9.08	<.001***
Whole Fruit	5	2.62 ^{b,c}	1.90	4.18 ^b	1.41	4.76 ^c	0.76	11.58	<.001***
Total Vegetables	5	1.38 ^{b,c}	1.09	2.30 ^b	1.55	3.13 ^c	1.59	5.54	.005**
Greens and Beans	5	0.29 ^b	0.98	0.92 ^c	1.71	3.13 ^{b,c}	2.44	10.14	<.001***
Whole Grains	10	2.37 ^b	2.85	5.17 ^b	3.58	8.87 ^b	1.76	13.48	<.001***
Dairy	10	8.77	2.68	8.82	2.20	8.38	2.83	0.16	.850
Total Protein Foods	5	3.32 ^b	1.76	4.10	1.34	4.60 ^b	0.78	3.84	.024*
Seafood and Plant Proteins	5	0.60 ^b	1.53	1.99 ^b	2.34	4.88 ^b	0.39	13.87	<.001***
Fatty Acids	10	2.03 ^b	2.70	3.02 ^c	3.32	6.89 ^{b,c}	3.80	7.92	.001**
Refined Grains	10	3.59 ^b	3.35	6.02 ^b	3.44	9.04 ^b	1.55	9.84	<.001***
Sodium	10	3.53 ^b	2.85	4.90 ^c	3.68	8.52 ^{b,c}	1.70	7.31	.001**
Empty Calories	20	14.13 ^{b,c}	4.55	18.16 ^b	2.43	18.98 ^c	1.42	19.03	<.001***
Total HEI-2010 Score	100	45.24 ^b	5.03	65.58 ^b	7.66	85.64 ^b	3.37	121.59	<.001***
* $p < .05$									

Table 12. Mean HEI-2010^a component scores of a sample of San Marcos preschoolers by score category

*** p < .001

a Healthy Eating Index-2010

b, c Means identified with the same alphabetic superscript are significantly different based on Tukey HSD or Games-Howell post hoc comparisons.

Nutrient Intakes and HEI-2010 Scores

Mean nutrient intakes by HEI-2010 category are detailed in Table 13. Statistically

significant differences were found among the three categories of HEI-2010 scores on

mean intakes of vitamin B₆, F(2, 121) = 3.54, p = .035, vitamin B₁₂, F(2, 121) = 3.10, p =

.049, vitamin D, F(2, 121) = 3.41, p = .036, and dietary fiber, F(2, 121) = 9.42, p < .001.

Post hoc Tukey HSD tests indicated that children in the highest HEI-2010 score category

("Good") and the middle HEI-2010 score category ("Needs Improvement") differed significantly in their intakes of vitamin B_{12} (p = .046) and vitamin D (p = .028). Interestingly, mean intakes of both of these vitamins were significantly *lower* among those in the "Good" category than those in the "Needs Improvement" category. Post hoc tests also indicated that significant differences existed between the highest ("Good") category and both the middle ("Needs Improvement") and lowest ("Poor") HEI-2010 categories for dietary fiber (p = .020 and p < .000, respectively). Post hoc analysis for vitamin B_6 intake did not reveal statistically significant differences among HEI-2010 score categories.

NAR percentages for calcium, iron, vitamins A, B₆, B₁₂, C, and D, folate, total carbohydrates, fiber, protein, linoleic acid, and α -linolenic acid are included in Table 13. The only nutrient on which all children fell short of the recommended intake was vitamin D. Children whose diets were classified as "Poor" or "Needs Improvement" consumed 43.7% and 46.3% of the RDA for vitamin D, respectively, while children whose diets were classified as "Good" consumed only 27.4% of the RDA for vitamin D. Children whose diets were classified as "Good" met the recommendation for fiber, but those in the "Needs Improvement" and "Poor" categories did not. Particularly high NAR percentages were observed for protein intake in all HEI score categories, with average protein intake falling between 356-421% of the RDA.

Table 13. Mean micronutry	Tent and ma	acronutrient n	ntakes of	a sample (ot San Ma	arcos presci	100lers by	/ HE1-201	U" score (ategory
				HEI-	2010 ^a Score	e Quality Ran	ges			
	RI	DA ^b	0-50 (n=22)	51-80	(n=92)	81-100	(n=10)		
	Ages 2-3 y	Ages 4-5 y	о .,	001°	"Needs Im	provement"	"Go	od"		
Micronutrients			Mean	SD	Mean	SD	Mean	SD	F	р
Calcium (mg)	700	1,000	1158.6	483.6	1081.6	417.5	831.6	184.1	2.15	.121
Calcium NAR ^c %			135.7	63.8	127.6	49.3	101.2	31.5	I.6I	.205
Iron (mg)	7	10	10.7	4.1	11.7	5.6	9.1	1.5	1.31	.273
Iron NAR%			126.2	60.6	138.8	67.9	110.7	27.5	1.06	.350
Vitamin A (µg RAE ^d)	300	400	614.3	323.8	712.3	357.1	706.8	469.4	0.66	.519
Vitamin A NAR%			176.3	106.7	202.5	103.5	211.9	158.1	0.59	.554
Vitamin B ₆ (mg)	0.5	0.6	1.1	0.6	1.5	0.8	1.3	0.5	3.54	$.032^{*}$
Vitamin $B_6 NAR\%$			204.2	112.9	278.4	124.2	245.6	104.9	3.45	$.035^{*}$
Vitamin B_{12} (µg)	0.9	1.2	4.2	2.1	4.8	2.9	2.6	1.6	3.10	$.049^{*}$
Vitamin B ₁₂ NAR%			395.9	209.4	461.5	307.0	252.6	156.0	2.68	.073
Vitamin C (mg)	15	25	57.2	43.0	78.3	62.7	97.9	101.9	1.61	.204
Vitamin C NAR%			287.3	246.1	418.0	400.2	582.9	705.7	1.89	.155
Vitamin D (µg)	15	15	6.5	3.8	7.0	3.4	4.1	2.4	3.41	$.036^{*}$
Vitamin D NAR%			43.7	25.5	46.3	22.9	27.4	15.9	3.07	.050
Folate (µg DFE ^e)	150	200	444.0	233.4	430.3	201.2	291.4	105.6	2.30	.105
Folate NAR%			255.0	159.3	245.8	117.7	176.2	83.6	1.57	.211
Macronutrients										
Carbohydrates (g)	130	130	201.0	59.1	203.9	70.6	190.2	54.4	0.19	.829
Carbohydrates NAR%			154.6	45.4	156.8	54.3	146.3	41.8	0.19	.829
Fiber (g) ^f	19	25	10.9	5.1	15.6	7.2	21.7	5.1	9.42	$<.001^{***}$
Fiber NAR%			49.0	27.2	70.8	33.3	102.6	36.4	9.57	$<.001^{***}$
Protein (g)	13	19	65.2	27.3	66.3	22.2	55.1	14.8	1.10	.337
Protein NAR%			400.6	176.7	421.2	161.5	356.1	115.0	0.80	.450
Linoleic Acid (g) ^t	7	10	9.6	3.9	8.7	4.7	10.9	3.9	1.33	.270
Linoleic Acid NAR%			112.1	52.0	104.7	62.8	134.6	53.1	1.16	.318
α-Linolenic Acid ^t (g)	0.7	0.9	1.1	0.5	1.1	0.6	1.3	0.5	0.62	.539
a-Linolenic Acid NAR%			134.2	72.4	132.3	69.1	157.9	59.2	0.62	.540
a Healthy Eating Index-2010 b Recommended Dietary Intakes	c Nutrient A d Retinol Ac	dequacy Ratio stivity Equivalent	s	e Dietary Fol f No RDA av	late Equival /ailable. Ad	ent equate Intakes	used.		p < .05 *** p < .0	01
	_	•				T			•	

23 -N. 4 7 • • E

Average animal protein intake on the day reported was 45.1 grams, and average plant-based protein intake was 20.1 grams. Children in the highest HEI-2010 score category consumed significantly less animal protein and significantly more plant-based protein than children in either of the other two score categories (see Table 14). A significant positive correlation was found between plant-based protein and HEI-2010 scores, r(122) = .277, p = .002, indicating that children with higher plant-based protein intake tend to have better quality diets and vice versa. However, no significant correlations were found between HEI-2010 scores and animal protein intake, protein intake as a percentage of total calories, or total protein intake in grams.

Table 14. Mean intakes of animal and plant-based protein from a sample of SanMarcos preschoolers by HEI-2010^a score category

		HE	I-2010 Score	Quality Ra	nges			
	0-50 (1	n=22)	51-80 (n=92)	81-100 (n=10)		
	"Poor"		"Needs Imp	rovement"	"Goo	od"		
	Mean	SD	Mean	SD	Mean	SD	F	р
Animal protein (g)	46.95 ^b	26.38	46.62 ^c	18.35	26.99 ^{b,c}	17.00	4.51	.013*
Plant-based protein (g)	18.25 ^b	7.84	19.64 ^c	9.73	28.07 ^{b,c}	6.43	4.29	.016*
* p < .05 a Healthy Eating Index-2	2010							

b, c Means identified with the same alphabetic superscript are significantly different based on Tukey HSD post hoc comparisons.

Best Food FITS Goals for Improving Children's Diets: Fruit, Vegetables, and Sugar-

Sweetened Beverages

Children who met the HEI-2010 Total Fruit component criteria had significantly

better total HEI-2010 scores than those who did not meet the component's maximum

score (p < 0.001), indicating that adequate fruit intake is a predictor of overall diet quality

(see Table 15). The average HEI-2010 score of children who met the Total Fruit

maximum was 67.2, compared to only 56.6 for children who did not meet the component

maximum. Mean HEI-2010 scores for children who met the Total Vegetables component

criteria (66.4) were also better than those of children who did not (61.6), although this

difference was not statistically significant.

Table 15. Mean HEI-2010^a scores for San Marcos children ages 2-5 by whether or not they met fruit and vegetable recommendations

Variable	$M \pm SD$	t	df	р
Fruit				
Met maximum Total Fruit component score (n=63)	67.2 ± 11.2	5 20	121	< 001*
Did not meet maximum Total Fruit component score (n=60)	56.6 ± 10.7	-3.29	121	<.001
Vegetables				
Met maximum Total Vegetables component score (n=13)	66.4 ± 11.8	1 25	121	180
Did not meet maximum Total Vegetables component score (n=110)	61.6 ± 12.1	-1.55	121	.180
* <i>p</i> < .001 a Healthy Eating Index-2010				

Over 30% of the San Marcos preschoolers consumed any SSBs on the day

reported and 14% consumed one or more full servings. Statistically significant

differences were found among mean HEI-2010 scores between children who consumed

no SSBs at all, children who consumed some but less than 1 serving of SSBs, and

children who consumed 1 or more servings, F(2, 120) = 8.35, p < .001 (see Table 16).

Post hoc Tukey HSD tests indicated that children who consumed no SSBs had

significantly higher HEI-2010 scores than children who consumed at least 1 serving of

SSBs on the day recorded (p < .001).

Table 16. Differences in mean HEI-2010^a scores for San Marcos children ages 2-5 by SSB^b servings

SSB ^b Servings	$M \pm SD$	F	р
0 servings (n=85)	$64.5^{c} \pm 12.0$		
Between 0-1 servings (n=21)	59.9 ± 10.9	8.35	<.001*
1 or more servings (n=17)	$52.4^{c} \pm 8.9$		
* <i>p</i> < .001			
a Healthy Eating Index-2010			
b Sugar sweetened beverage			
c Means identified with the same alphabetic superscript are post hoc comparisons.	significantly different b	based on Tuk	ey HSD

The means, standard deviations, and intercorrelations of fruit, vegetable, and SSB servings can be found in Table 17. The combination of variables to predict HEI-2010 scores from fruit servings, vegetable servings, and SSB servings was statistically significant, F(3,119) = 14.2, p < .001. The beta coefficients are presented in Table 18. Note that higher fruit servings and lower SSB servings significantly predict HEI-2010 score when all 3 variables are included. The adjusted R^2 value was .244, indicating that 24% of the variance in HEI-2010 scores is explained by this model.

Table 17. Means, standard deviations, and intercorrelations for HEI-2010^a scores and predictor variables (n=123)

Variable	м	SD	Fruit	Vegetable	SSB
v arrable	111	50	servings	servings	servings
HEI-2010 total score	62.1	12.1	.42**	.25**	34**
Predictor variables					
Fruit servings	2.0	2.4		.26**	16*
Vegetable servings	1.5	1.3	.26**		18*
SSB ^b servings	0.3	0.6	16*	18*	
* $p < .05$; ** $p < .01$					
a Healthy Eating Index-2010					
b Sugar-sweetened beverage					

Table 18. Regression analysis summary for servings of fruit, vegetables, and SSBs^a predicting HEI-2010^b scores of San Marcos preschoolers (N=123)

Variable	В	SE B	β	t	p
Fruit servings	1.74	.41	.34	4.20	<.001
Vegetable servings	1.12	.79	.12	1.42	.16
SSB servings	-5.70	1.73	27	-3.29	.001
Note: $R^2 = .26$; $F(3,119) = 14.2$, p	<.001.				
a Sugar-sweetened beverages					
b Healthy Eating Index-2010					

Analysis of Relationships Between Survey Variables and Individual Diet Scores

Mean HEI-2010 scores of the San Marcos preschoolers based on variables of

interest from the parent survey are detailed in Table 19.

Variable/Survey Question	Child HEI-2010 Score Mean + SD	F	p
Child sex	Micall ± 5D		
Male (n=56)	61.0 ± 12.8		
Female $(n=68)$	63.0 ± 11.5	.91	.343
Caregiver age		1	1
18-25 (n=21)	61.6+12.2		
26-40 (n=92)	61 8+12 1	.48	.619
41-65(n=11)	65 5+12 5		
Caregiver employment status	0010-1210		
Unemployed (n=30)	61.3+14.1		
Employed part-time (n=22)	61 6+11 8	15	859
Employed full-time (n=72)	62 6+11 4	.15	.057
Caregiver BMI category	02.0±11.4	1	
Underweight (n=5)	60.9 + 10.4		
Normal weight (n=48)	62.4 + 14.1		
Overweight $(n=34)$	61.8 ± 10.9	.13	.942
Obese $(n=32)$	60.8 ± 10.1		
Caregiver race/ethnicity		1	
White (n=63)	63.9 ± 12.4		
Hispanic/Latino (n=54)	59.8 ± 11.8	1.83	.164
Other ^b $(n=7)$	64.1 ± 9.0		
Household income		<u> </u>	
\$0-10,000 (n=18)	60.2 ± 9.7		
\$10,001 - 20,000 (n=20)	58.7 ± 11.1		
\$20,001 - 40,000 (n=22)	59.2 ± 13.8	1.29	.280
\$40,001 - 75,000 (n=23)	64.0 ± 10.0		
\$75,001+ (n=39)	64.2 ± 13.1		
Caregiver education level			
Less than high school (n=10)	59.6 ± 14.3		
High school/GED (n=31)	58.2 ± 11.2		
Associate's degree (n=12)	58.9 ± 7.8	1.87	.120
College degree (n=41)	63.9 ± 11.9		
Graduate degree (n=29)	65.1 ± 12.8		
Do you use any of the following resources: WIC ^c , SN	AP ^d , TANF ^e , food bank or fo	ood pan	try,
reduced or free school meals?			1
None of these used (n=66)	63.3 ± 12.8		
One of these used (n=31)	60.4 ± 11.7	.71	.494
More than one of these used (n=27)	61.2 ± 10.9		
How often are home-cooked foods served for dinner?			
Rarely (n=1)	58.0		
Sometimes (n=22)	62.2 ± 13.2	04	000
Most times (n=76)	62.0 ± 11.7	.04	.709
Always (n=24)	62.3 ± 13.3		

 Table 19. Mean HEI-2010^a scores based on variables of interest from survey distributed to parents of San Marcos preschoolers

How often are fast foods served for dinner?			
Never (n=24)	66.2 ± 14.8		
Rarely (n=80)	61.7 ± 11.4	1.60	170
Sometimes (n=18)	58.7 ± 10.5	1.09	.172
Most times (n=1)	51.9		
How often is sit down restaurant food served for dinn	er?		
Never (n=22)	64.5 ± 11.1		
Rarely (n=74)	61.6 ± 12.2	50	695
Sometimes (n=26)	61.1 ± 13.1	.50	.685
Most times (n=1)	69.5		
How many hours does your child watch TV per day?			
0 hours (n=9)	67.4 ± 12.2		
0.5 hours (n=16)	69.3 ± 14.8		
1 hour (n=36)	59.0 ± 11.2	0.17	0.60
1.5 hours (n=24)	60.5 ± 12.0	2.17	.062
2.0 hours (n=34)	62.0 ± 10.9		
3.0 hours (n=40	58.9 ± 9.1		
How often do you model healthy eating for your child	by eating healthy foods you	urself?	
Never (n=2)	59.6±8.3		
Sometimes (n=24)	58.0 ± 10.0	0.45	0.67
Most times (n=67)	61.8 ± 11.8	2.45	.067
Always (n=29)	66.8 ± 13.5		
How often do you eat together as a family?		1	
Never (n=1)	74.0		
	,		
Sometimes (n=16)	56.9 ± 10.5	1 47	226
Sometimes (n=16) Most times (n=39)	56.9 ± 10.5 62.1 ± 12.0	1.47	.226
Sometimes (n=16) Most times (n=39) Always (n=66)	56.9 ± 10.5 62.1 ± 12.0 63.1 ± 12.5	1.47	.226
Sometimes (n=16) Most times (n=39) Always (n=66) If your child says, I'm not hungry, how often do you t	56.9 ± 10.5 62.1 ± 12.0 63.1 ± 12.5 rry to get him/her to eat anyw	1.47 vay?	.226
Sometimes (n=16) Most times (n=39) Always (n=66) If your child says, I'm not hungry, how often do you Never (n=9)	56.9 ± 10.5 62.1 ± 12.0 63.1 ± 12.5 rry to get him/her to eat anyw 58.1 ± 6.6	1.47 vay?	.226
Sometimes (n=16) Most times (n=39) Always (n=66) If your child says, I'm not hungry, how often do your Never (n=9) Rarely (n=52)	56.9 ± 10.5 62.1 ± 12.0 63.1 ± 12.5 Try to get him/her to eat anyw 58.1 ± 6.6 62.3 ± 11.3	1.47 vay?	.226
Sometimes (n=16) Most times (n=39) Always (n=66) If your child says, I'm not hungry, how often do your Never (n=9) Rarely (n=52) Sometimes (n=28)	56.9 ± 10.5 62.1 ± 12.0 63.1 ± 12.5 ry to get him/her to eat anyw 58.1 ± 6.6 62.3 ± 11.3 61.9 ± 14.4	1.47 vay?	.226
Sometimes (n=16) Most times (n=39) Always (n=66) If your child says, I'm not hungry, how often do your Never (n=9) Rarely (n=52) Sometimes (n=28) Most times (n=16)	56.9 ± 10.5 62.1 ± 12.0 63.1 ± 12.5 Try to get him/her to eat anyw 58.1 ± 6.6 62.3 ± 11.3 61.9 ± 14.4 65.8 ± 12.5	1.47 vay? .69	.226
Sometimes (n=16) Most times (n=39) Always (n=66) If your child says, I'm not hungry, how often do your Never (n=9) Rarely (n=52) Sometimes (n=28) Most times (n=16) Always (n=18)	56.9 ± 10.5 62.1 ± 12.0 63.1 ± 12.5 ry to get him/her to eat anyw 58.1 ± 6.6 62.3 ± 11.3 61.9 ± 14.4 65.8 ± 12.5 60.5 ± 12.6	1.47 vay? .69	.226
Sometimes (n=16) Most times (n=39) Always (n=66) If your child says, I'm not hungry, how often do your Never (n=9) Rarely (n=52) Sometimes (n=28) Most times (n=16) Always (n=18) How often do you offer your child his/her favorite foo	56.9 ± 10.5 62.1 ± 12.0 63.1 ± 12.5 Try to get him/her to eat anyw 58.1 ± 6.6 62.3 ± 11.3 61.9 ± 14.4 65.8 ± 12.5 60.5 ± 12.6 ods in exchange for good bel	1.47 vay? .69	.226
Sometimes (n=16) Most times (n=39) Always (n=66) If your child says, I'm not hungry, how often do you Never (n=9) Rarely (n=52) Sometimes (n=28) Most times (n=16) Always (n=18) How often do you offer your child his/her favorite foo Never (n=43)	56.9 ± 10.5 62.1 ± 12.0 63.1 ± 12.5 Try to get him/her to eat anyw 58.1 ± 6.6 62.3 ± 11.3 61.9 ± 14.4 65.8 ± 12.5 60.5 ± 12.6 ods in exchange for good bel 64.9 ± 10.8	1.47 vay? .69 navior?	.226
Sometimes (n=16) Most times (n=39) Always (n=66) If your child says, I'm not hungry, how often do you Never (n=9) Rarely (n=52) Sometimes (n=28) Most times (n=16) Always (n=18) How often do you offer your child his/her favorite foo Never (n=43) Rarely (n=52)	56.9 ± 10.5 62.1 ± 12.0 63.1 ± 12.5 ry to get him/her to eat anyw 58.1 ± 6.6 62.3 ± 11.3 61.9 ± 14.4 65.8 ± 12.5 60.5 ± 12.6 ods in exchange for good bel 64.9 ± 10.8 60.4 ± 13.0	1.47 vay? .69 navior?	.226
Sometimes (n=16) Most times (n=39) Always (n=66) If your child says, I'm not hungry, how often do your Never (n=9) Rarely (n=52) Sometimes (n=28) Most times (n=16) Always (n=18) How often do you offer your child his/her favorite food Never (n=43) Rarely (n=52) Sometimes (n=13)	56.9 ± 10.5 62.1 ± 12.0 63.1 ± 12.5 Try to get him/her to eat anyw 58.1 ± 6.6 62.3 ± 11.3 61.9 ± 14.4 65.8 ± 12.5 60.5 ± 12.6 ods in exchange for good beh 64.9 ± 10.8 60.4 ± 13.0 57.5 ± 10.6	1.47 vay? .69 navior? 1.45	.226
Sometimes (n=16) Most times (n=39) Always (n=66) If your child says, I'm not hungry, how often do you Never (n=9) Rarely (n=52) Sometimes (n=28) Most times (n=16) Always (n=18) How often do you offer your child his/her favorite foo Never (n=43) Rarely (n=52) Sometimes (n=13) Most times (n=10)	56.9 ± 10.5 62.1 ± 12.0 63.1 ± 12.5 Try to get him/her to eat anyw 58.1 ± 6.6 62.3 ± 11.3 61.9 ± 14.4 65.8 ± 12.5 60.5 ± 12.6 ods in exchange for good bef 64.9 ± 10.8 60.4 ± 13.0 57.5 ± 10.6 62.7 ± 14.5	1.47 vay? .69 navior? 1.45	.226
Sometimes (n=16) Most times (n=39) Always (n=66) If your child says, I'm not hungry, how often do you to Never (n=9) Rarely (n=52) Sometimes (n=28) Most times (n=16) Always (n=18) How often do you offer your child his/her favorite food Never (n=43) Rarely (n=52) Sometimes (n=13) Most times (n=10) Always (n=5)	56.9 ± 10.5 62.1 ± 12.0 63.1 ± 12.5 rry to get him/her to eat anyw 58.1 ± 6.6 62.3 ± 11.3 61.9 ± 14.4 65.8 ± 12.5 60.5 ± 12.6 ods in exchange for good bef 64.9 ± 10.8 60.4 ± 13.0 57.5 ± 10.6 62.7 ± 14.5 65.9 ± 9.5	1.47 vay? .69 navior? 1.45	.226 .599 .222
Sometimes (n=16) Most times (n=39) Always (n=66) If your child says, I'm not hungry, how often do you Never (n=9) Rarely (n=52) Sometimes (n=28) Most times (n=16) Always (n=18) How often do you offer your child his/her favorite foo Never (n=43) Rarely (n=52) Sometimes (n=13) Most times (n=10) Always (n=5) How often do you encourage your child to eat less?	56.9 ± 10.5 62.1 ± 12.0 63.1 ± 12.5 Try to get him/her to eat anyw 58.1 ± 6.6 62.3 ± 11.3 61.9 ± 14.4 65.8 ± 12.5 60.5 ± 12.6 ods in exchange for good beh 64.9 ± 10.8 60.4 ± 13.0 57.5 ± 10.6 62.7 ± 14.5 65.9 ± 9.5	1.47 vay? .69 navior? 1.45	.226 .599 .222
Sometimes (n=16) Most times (n=39) Always (n=66) If your child says, I'm not hungry, how often do you Never (n=9) Rarely (n=52) Sometimes (n=28) Most times (n=16) Always (n=18) How often do you offer your child his/her favorite food Never (n=43) Rarely (n=52) Sometimes (n=13) Most times (n=10) Always (n=5) How often do you encourage your child to eat less? Never (n=99)	56.9 ± 10.5 62.1 ± 12.0 63.1 ± 12.5 Try to get him/her to eat anyw 58.1 ± 6.6 62.3 ± 11.3 61.9 ± 14.4 65.8 ± 12.5 60.5 ± 12.6 ods in exchange for good bel 64.9 ± 10.8 60.4 ± 13.0 57.5 ± 10.6 62.7 ± 14.5 65.9 ± 9.5 62.1 ± 12.3	1.47 vay? .69 navior? 1.45	.226
Sometimes (n=16) Most times (n=39) Always (n=66) If your child says, I'm not hungry, how often do you to Never (n=9) Rarely (n=52) Sometimes (n=28) Most times (n=16) Always (n=18) How often do you offer your child his/her favorite food Never (n=43) Rarely (n=52) Sometimes (n=13) Most times (n=10) Always (n=5) How often do you encourage your child to eat less? Never (n=99) Rarely (n=18)	56.9 ± 10.5 62.1 ± 12.0 63.1 ± 12.5 rry to get him/her to eat anyw 58.1 ± 6.6 62.3 ± 11.3 61.9 ± 14.4 65.8 ± 12.5 60.5 ± 12.6 ods in exchange for good bef 64.9 ± 10.8 60.4 ± 13.0 57.5 ± 10.6 62.7 ± 14.5 65.9 ± 9.5 62.1 ± 12.3 61.5 ± 13.4	1.47 vay? .69 navior? 1.45	.226
Sometimes (n=16) Most times (n=39) Always (n=66) If your child says, I'm not hungry, how often do you Never (n=9) Rarely (n=52) Sometimes (n=28) Most times (n=16) Always (n=18) How often do you offer your child his/her favorite food Never (n=43) Rarely (n=52) Sometimes (n=13) Most times (n=10) Always (n=5) How often do you encourage your child to eat less? Never (n=99) Rarely (n=18) Sometimes (n=5)	56.9 ± 10.5 62.1 ± 12.0 63.1 ± 12.5 Try to get him/her to eat anyw 58.1 ± 6.6 62.3 ± 11.3 61.9 ± 14.4 65.8 ± 12.5 60.5 ± 12.6 ods in exchange for good bef 64.9 ± 10.8 60.4 ± 13.0 57.5 ± 10.6 62.7 ± 14.5 65.9 ± 9.5 62.1 ± 12.3 61.5 ± 13.4 60.9 ± 4.5	1.47 vay? .69 navior? 1.45 .18	.226 .599 .222 .909

Table 19. (Continued) Mean HEI-2010^a scores based on variables of interest from survey distributed to parents of San Marcos preschoolers

How often do you plan to have vegetables at dinner?			
Never (n=5)	55.8 ± 12.7		
Sometimes (n=35)	58.6 ± 11.6	3.23	.043*
Often (n=83)	63.9 ± 12.0		
I am sure I can find time to prepare healthy meals.			
Strongly disagree (n=5)	$49.2^{\rm f} \pm 12.6$		
Disagree (n=3)	52.7 ± 5.9		
Neither agree nor disagree (n=10)	65.8 ± 10.6	3.58	.009***
Agree (n=61)	60.5 ± 11.1		
Strongly agree (n=45)	$65.5^{\rm f} \pm 12.6$		
I am sure I can plan meals ahead of time to make sur	e they include foods like ve	getables	, fruits,
beans, and whole grains.			
Strongly disagree (n=5)	$44.9^{f,g} \pm 9.1$		
Disagree (n=7)	60.9 ± 5.1		
Neither agree nor disagree (n=9)	62.9 ± 12.7	3.21	.015*
Agree (n=52)	$61.5^{\rm f} \pm 11.9$		
Strongly agree (n=50)	$64.4^{g} \pm 12.2$		
a Healthy Eating Index-2010			
b Black and Asian combined			
c Special Supplemental Nutrition Program for Women, In	fants, and Children		
d Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program			
e Temporary Assistance for Needy Families		1	
f, g Means identified with the same alphabetic superscript	are significantly different bas	ed on Tu	key
* n < .05			
** <i>p</i> < .01			

Table 19. (Continued) Mean HEI-2010^a scores based on variables of interest from survey distributed to parents of San Marcos preschoolers

Significant variance was observed for 3 of the selected parent survey questions:

"How often does your family plan to have vegetables for dinner?" (p = .043), "I am sure I can find time to prepare healthy meals" (p = .009), and "I am sure I can plan meals ahead of time to make sure they include foods like vegetables, fruits, beans, and whole grains" (p = .015). Post hoc Tukey HSD tests indicated that HEI-2010 scores were significantly lower among children whose parents strongly disagreed with the statement, "I am sure I can plan meals ahead of time to make sure they include foods like vegetables, fruits, beans, and whole grains," than children whose parents agreed (p = .025) or strongly agreed (p = .005) with the statement. Tukey HSD tests also revealed that HEI-2010 scores were significantly lower among children whose parents strongly tests also revealed that HEI-2010

the statement, "I am sure I can find time to prepare healthy meals," than children whose parents strongly agreed (p = .027) with the statement. Post hoc multiple comparisons tests did not reveal significant differences between responses to the question, "How often do you plan to have vegetables at dinner?"

Although the *F* tests conducted were not statistically significant, trends were observed among parent education, frequency of fast-food meals, and healthy modeling. A significant positive correlation was observed between parental level of education and child HEI-2010 scores, r(121) = .21, p = .017. This means that children with highly educated parents tended to have higher HEI-2010 scores. A significant negative correlation was observed between frequency of fast-food meals and total HEI-2010 scores, r(121) = .20, p = .027, indicating that children who ate fast-food meals more often tended to have lower HEI-2010 scores. Finally, a significant positive correlation was found between responses to the healthy modeling survey question and children's HEI-2010 scores, $r_s(120) = .233$, p = .010, indicating that children whose parents modeled healthy eating behaviors more frequently tended to have higher HEI-2010 scores.

Mean differences in HEI-2010 scores among participants in food assistance programs are outlined in Table 20. No significant differences were found between mean HEI-2010 scores of WIC participants compared to nonparticipants, TANF recipients compared to non-recipients, food bank/food pantry participants compared to nonparticipants, or reduced/free school meal recipients compared to non-recipients. It is interesting to note, though, that WIC was the only food assistance program associated with higher mean HEI-2010 scores among participants compared to non-participants.

Participation in SNAP did appear to be related to diet quality. SNAP recipients

had significantly lower HEI-2010 scores than non-recipients (p = .046). The mean HEI-

2010 score for SNAP recipients was 58.6, while the mean score for non-recipients was

63.4. Differences were also observed between WIC and SNAP users, although these

results were not statistically significant. The mean HEI-2010 score of individuals

participating only in WIC was 65.3, compared to 56.3 for individuals participating only

in SNAP and 61.5 for individuals participating in both WIC and SNAP.

Table 20. Mean HEI-2010^a scores for San Marcos children ages 2-5 by parents' participation in food assistance programs

Variable	$M \pm SD$	t	df	p
WIC ^b				
Participants (n=26)	63.1 ± 12.5	47	100	620
Non-participants (n=98)	61.8 ± 12.0	47	122	.038
SNAP ^c				
Participants (n=34)	58.6 ± 10.9	2.01	100	046*
Non-participants (n=90)	63.4 ± 12.3	2.01	122	.040**
TANF ^d				
Participant (n=2)	55.3 ± 16.3	01	100	422
Non-participant (n=122)	62.2 ± 12.1	.81	122	.422
Food Bank or Food Pantry				
Participant (n=2)	52.8 ± 11.0	1 10	100	275
Non-participant (n=122)	62.3 ± 12.1	1.10	122	.275
Reduced or Free School Meals				
Participant (n=31)	61.5 ± 10.3	242	100	722
Non-participant (n=93)	62.3 ± 12.7	.342	122	.755
a Healthy Eating Index-2010				
b Special Supplemental Nutrition Program for Women, Infa	ants, and Children			
d Temporary Assistance for Needy Families				
* n < .05				

Comparison of Local HEI-2010 Scores with National Scores

The mean total HEI-2010 score for the national sample of preschoolers (59.9) was

considerably lower than the optimal score of 100, and average scores for most

components were below the standards (see Table 21). Children in the national sample did
meet optimal mean component scores for Total Fruit, Whole Fruit, and Dairy, indicating that recommended daily servings were reached for these food groups. As observed among the San Marcos preschoolers, the components with scores furthest from the standards were Greens and Beans and Fatty Acids.

Table 21. HEI-2010^a component and total scores for national sample of children ages 2-5: NHANES^b 2009-2012 (n=25,425)

HEI-2010 Component	Optimum Score	Mean Score ± Standard Deviation
Total Fruit	5	5.00 ± 0.04
Whole Fruit	5	5.00 ± 0.00
Total Vegetables	5	1.94 ± 11.3
Greens and Beans	5	0.66 ± 14.2
Whole Grains	10	2.94 ± 23.9
Dairy	10	10.0 ± 0.00
Total Protein Foods	5	4.06 ± 17.4
Seafood and Plant Proteins	5	2.82 ± 33.0
Fatty Acids	10	2.32 ± 46.3
Refined Grains	10	6.38 ± 25.9
Sodium	10	5.88 ± 24.5
Empty Calories	20	12.9 ± 44.4
Total HEI-2010 Score	100	59.9 ± 140
a Healthy Eating Index-2010 b National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey		

Means and 95% confidence intervals for local and national HEI-2010 scores are shown in Figure 3. Confidence intervals do not overlap for the Total Fruit, Whole Fruit, Whole Grains, Dairy, or Empty Calories components, indicating those component means are significantly different. The similarities among mean scores for the Total Vegetables, Greens and Beans, Total Protein Foods, Seafood and Plant Proteins, Fatty Acids, Refined Grains, and Sodium components indicate that children across the US are largely struggling with the same nutritional inadequacies as children in San Marcos, TX. These common trends are illustrated in Figure 4.







HEI-2010 Component Scores

Figure 4. Radar chart visualization of Healthy Eating Index-2010 component scores between local sample of San Marcos preschoolers and national sample of preschoolers (NHANES 2009-2012). Component scores were normalized to fit a 10point scale. The Total Fruit, Whole Fruit, Total Vegetables, Greens and Beans, Total Protein Foods, and Seafood and Plant Proteins components were multiplied by 2 and the Empty Calories component was divided by 2. Points on the axes of the graph represent the two samples' mean scores for each component. The overall shape of the plots is an indicator of dietary quality, with larger shapes suggesting better HEI-2010 scores (and, thus, better adherence to the 2010 DGAs).

V. DISCUSSION

This study addressed three research questions: 1) What is the diet quality of preschool-aged children in San Marcos, TX, as measured by the HEI-2010? 2) How are socio-demographic and food environment factors related to the children's diet quality? 3) How does the diet quality of children in San Marcos, TX compare to that of children across the US?

Diet Quality of Children in San Marcos, TX

As we predicted, the mean total HEI-2010 score (62.1) was much lower than the optimal score of 100, all mean component scores were below the standards, and no child met the recommendations for all components. To date, the only other study using the HEI-2010 to assess the diets of preschoolers in this geographic region is the University of Texas *Lunch is in the Bag Trial*. Although the socio-demographic characteristics of those participants differed from those of this San Marcos sample (they were predominantly white, over 80% of parents had at least a bachelor's degree, and mean household income was much higher), that study also found very low component scores for Total Vegetables, Greens and Beans, Whole Grains, Seafood and Plant Proteins, Fatty Acids, and Sodium.¹⁰⁰ Similarly, Erinosho and colleagues found low HEI-2005 component scores for Total Vegetables, Dark Green and Orange Vegetables and Legumes, Total Grains, Whole Grains, Oils, and Saturated Fat among preschool-aged children at child-care centers in North Carolina.¹¹²

Almost all of the NAR percentages calculated were higher than 100%, indicating that preschoolers in San Marcos, TX are consuming adequate amounts of most microand macronutrients, likely because of fortified processed foods. The notable exception is

vitamin D consumption. Levels of vitamin D intake among the San Marcos preschoolers sampled were less than half of the RDA for all three HEI-2010 score categories and were significantly lower among children whose diets were classified as "Good" than among children whose diets "Need Improvement." Similarly, disappointingly low vitamin D intake was found among young children in Hays County in a 2014 study by Thornton and colleagues investigating the effects of WIC package changes on nutrient intake.¹⁵⁸ Sufficient vitamin D is necessary for bone health and the prevention of osteomalacia and rickets.¹⁵⁹ Vitamin D also regulates calcium and phosphorous metabolism and plays important roles in cell growth, immune function, and the reduction of inflammation.^{159,160} Vitamin D insufficiency is common among children; a 2009 study by Kumar and colleagues found that roughly 9% of US children and adolescents were vitamin Ddeficient and another 61% were vitamin D-insufficient.¹⁶¹ Although vitamin D can be synthesized endogenously when the skin is exposed to sunlight, and the ultraviolet rays of the sun are relatively strong at the latitude of Hays County, Texas,¹⁶² efforts to protect skin against sun damage and generally low intakes of vitamin D-rich foods may mean many Texans are at risk for vitamin D insufficiency.

We expected this odd trend in vitamin D intake across HEI-2010 score categories to be reflected in the Dairy component scores. However, although the mean Dairy score was lowest among those in the "Good" category compared to the other score categories, this difference was not significant and thus does little to explain the disparity in vitamin D intake. It is likely that children whose diets were categorized as "Poor" or "Needs Improvement" consumed more of the types of vitamin D-fortified foods that would not

contribute to higher HEI-2010 scores (such as fortified, refined breakfast cereals) than children whose diets are categorized as "Good."

Another exception among the generally high NAR percentages calculated was that of dietary fiber. Children in the "Good" score category were the only group that met the DRI for dietary fiber, and they consumed significantly more fiber than children in either of the other two score categories. Numerous studies suggest a need to encourage more dietary fiber consumption among children, as it has been associated with beneficial effects on bowel function, weight management, and reductions in chronic disease risks in both children and adults.^{163,164}

Although children in all score categories met the RDA for vitamin B_{12} , mean intakes of the vitamin were much lower in the "Good" HEI-2010 score category than in either of the other two categories. As with vitamin D, this difference is probably a result of higher consumption of the types of foods that would not contribute to higher total HEI-2010 scores by children in the lower score categories. Vitamin B_{12} is found in animal products and fortified foods, so the significantly higher animal protein intake among children in the lower two score categories compared to children in the "Good" category is likely related to the disparity in vitamin B_{12} intake.

Previous research with this sample indicated that the children's protein intake was particularly high,¹⁵² and as expected, we found that average protein intake was high, falling between 356-421% of the RDA across all HEI-2010 score categories. Surprisingly, while this intake seems excessive, further analysis revealed very little of significance with regard to relationships between total protein intake and diet quality. However, we did find strong trends among types of protein intake. Children in the highest HEI-2010 score category consumed significantly less animal protein and significantly more plant-based protein than children in either of the other two score categories, and a significant positive relationship existed between consumption of plant-based protein and diet quality. Seafood and Plant Protein component scores of children in the highest HEI-2010 score category were more than double those of children in the middle category and six times higher than those of children in the lowest category, yet even those with "Good" diets did not meet the standard for this component. Consumption of both vegetarian sources of protein and low-mercury seafood are associated with positive health outcomes such as reduced risk of cardiovascular disease, yet intakes of these foods by children are often low relative to land animal sources of protein.¹⁶⁵

Relationships Between Parent Survey Variables and Children's Diet Scores

We found several revealing relationships between the children's HEI-2010 scores and survey variables related to their food environments and parent feeding practices. Significant differences in diet quality as measured by the HEI-2010 were observed among responses to the questions, "I am sure I can plan meals ahead of time to make sure they include foods like vegetables, fruits, beans, and whole grains" and "I am sure I can find time to prepare healthy meals." These questions were intended to assess the selfefficacy of parents to plan and prepare healthful meals for their families. As predicted, significantly higher diet quality scores were found among children of parents whose responses indicated they "strongly agreed" with the self-efficacy statements. Of course, this relationship must be interpreted with caution, as the self-efficacy survey construct is not strong. The literature linking parental self-efficacy to dietary quality in children is relatively scarce, but a 2010 study by Campbell and colleagues found that maternal self-

efficacy to promote healthy eating had a significant positive association with the vegetable intake of 1-year-old children and with the fruit, vegetable, and water intake of 5-year-old children.¹⁶⁶ Future interventions aimed at removing barriers related to self-efficacy may have important effects on diet quality.

Children whose parents reported participating in WIC had higher HEI-2010 scores than those whose parents did not report WIC participation. In fact, WIC was the only food assistance program associated with higher mean HEI-2010 scores among participants compared to non-participants. This is consistent with national studies on the effects of WIC participation on diet quality, particularly after the 2009 WIC food package changes. Recently, Tester and colleagues found that participation in WIC was significantly associated with higher total HEI-2010 scores, with the largest component increases observed among Greens and Beans, Whole Grains, and Fatty Acids (which are generally among the lowest-scoring components).¹⁴⁵ Before the 2009 package changes, Cole and Fox found that although WIC participation was not associated with significantly higher total HEI-2005 scores, it was associated with lower intakes of solid fats and added sugars.¹⁶⁷

Participation in SNAP appeared to have an inverse relationship with diet quality, in contrast to participation in WIC. Children in our San Marcos sample whose parents reported participating in SNAP had significantly lower HEI-2010 scores than those whose parents did not report SNAP participation. In general, evidence on the relationships between SNAP participation and diet quality has been mixed. In 2013, Leung and colleagues found that children whose parents participated in SNAP consumed more SSBs, processed meats, and high-fat dairy products and fewer nuts, seeds, and

legumes than children of income-eligible non-participants.¹⁶⁸ These (and our) results differ from those of Nguyen and colleagues (discussed previously), who found higher HEI scores among SNAP recipients than income-eligible non-recipients.¹¹⁷ Unlike other food assistance programs, SNAP benefits are not restricted to a defined list of relatively healthful, nutrient-rich foods. Alarming rates of obesity in the US have increased the need to emphasize healthful dietary patterns, and policy changes to make SNAP benefits more consistent with the DGAs could have positive effects on the diet quality of low-income families.

Although more generalizable research is needed, this study contributes to the body of literature on the home food environment, parent feeding practices, and children's diet quality. A more thorough understanding of the complex factors that affect the diet quality of this and other high risk populations may inform future nutrition interventions and policies.

Comparison of Local HEI-2010 Scores with National Scores

Both local and national mean HEI-2010 scores fell at the lower end of the "Needs Improvement" category. Because eating patterns established in childhood track into adulthood and overweight and obesity are associated with significant short-term and long-term health consequences, these low total HEI-2010 scores observed among preschoolers are troubling.

Children in San Marcos scored significantly better on the Whole Grains and Empty Calories components than children in the national sample, while children in the national sample scored significantly better on the Total Fruit, Whole Fruit, and Dairy components. However, perhaps more interesting than the differences are the similarities

between the two groups. Children across the US are all struggling to meet recommendations for Total Vegetables, Greens and Beans, Seafood and Plant Proteins, Fatty Acids, Whole Grains, Refined Grains, and Sodium. The diet quality scores of both the local and national samples would be improved by increasing vegetable intake, particularly dark green vegetables and legumes; replacing refined grains with whole grains; substituting seafood for some other animal sources of protein; and decreasing sodium intake.

Strengths and Limitations

One limitation of this study is its use of convenience sampling, meaning our analysis of San Marcos children's HEI-2010 scores is not generalizable. Also, the inability of the survey tool to measure its intended constructs hindered our ability to analyze general characteristics of the home food environment as predictors of diet quality. Therefore, further research is needed to explore the relationships between the food environments and feeding practices of children and the quality of their diets.

Strengths of this study include its attention to a population whose average income and ethnic makeup place it at increased risk of obesity and malnutrition. Additionally, the use of the multiple pass 24-hour recall method minimizes (to the extent possible) the measurement error inherent in all dietary intake assessment tools, and using parents as proxy reporters has been shown to be an accurate method for collecting intake data in young children.^{103,169} Finally, the use of the HEI-2010 to assess diet quality is a major strength of this research effort. The HEI-2010 is valid and reliable, with a score distribution that is wide enough to reveal meaningful differences in diet quality between individuals, and its use with children in this age range is supported by the literature.^{104,139}

Summary

Research on the prevention of childhood overweight and obesity is important to inform public health interventions and policies. This study provides insight into the diet quality of preschoolers attending childcare centers in San Marcos, TX and identifies specific components of children's diets that need attention. These results could contribute to future dietary interventions targeted at preschool-aged children, especially those in low-income and minority communities. Of particular interest would be interventions aimed at increasing vitamin D intake and consumption of dark green vegetables, legumes, whole grains, and unsaturated fats among this age group. Also, improving education of parents and other care providers may help them to encourage children's preferences for nutritious foods and ensure children receive more healthful meals. To this aim, future Best Foods FITS research efforts intend to utilize media and technology to educate parents on appropriate feeding practices for young children.

Additional research is needed to explore San Marcos parents' barriers and facilitators to feeding their children higher-quality diets. A deeper understanding of these factors could help to shape other interventions in this at-risk community.

APPENDIX

Survey Constructs Adapted from Existing Studies				
Authors	Title	Tool	Constructs Used	Sample Questions
Birch et al, 2001 ⁴²	Confirmatory Factor Analysis of the Child Feeding Questionnaire: A Measure of Parental Attitudes, Beliefs and Practices About Child Feeding and Obesity Proneness	Children's Eating Behavior Questionnaire (CEBQ)	Parent perception of self- and child- weight	"What is your child's weight status?"
Campbell et al, 2006 ¹⁷⁰	Family Food Environment and Dietary Behaviors Likely to Promote Fatness in 5–6 Year- Old Children	Food Frequency Questionnaire (FFQ)	Parent self- efficacy: barriers	"My child eats enough fruits and vegetables to keep him/her healthy."
Musher- Eizenman et al, 2007 ¹⁷¹ Comprehensive Feeding Practices Questionnaire: Validation of a New Measure of Parental Feeding Practices		Parent feeding practices: strategies	"How often do you model healthy eating for your child by eating healthy foods yourself?"	
	Comprehensive Feeding Practices Questionnaire: Validation of a New Measure	Comprehensive Feeding Practices Questionnaire (CFPQ)	Parent feeding practices: pressure to eat	"When he/she says he/she is finished eating, how often do you try to get your child to eat one more (2 more, etc.) bites?"
	of Parental Feeding Practices		Parent feeding practices: positive involvement in child eating	"How often do you limit or keep track of the high-fat foods that your child eats?"
		Parent feeding practices: use of food to control behavior	"How often do you offer your child his/her favorite foods in exchange for good behavior?"	
Nansel et al, 2013172Relationships Among Parent and Youth Healthful Eating Attitudes and Youth Dietary Intake in a Cross-Sectional Study of Youth with Type 1 Diabetes	Healthful Eating Attitudes Scale	Parent self- efficacy	"I am sure I canmake healthy meals that my family will enjoy"	
		Parent self- efficacy: barriers	"I have very little time to prepare healthy meals"	
O'Connor et al, 2010 ¹⁷³	Parenting Practices are Associated with Fruit and Vegetable Consumption in Pre-school Children	Caregivers Feeding Style Questionnaire (CFSQ)	Parent feeding practices: strategies	"[Please mark how often you do the following.] Ask my child to help me prepare meals."
Rich et al, 2005 ¹⁷⁴	Perceptions of Health Status and Play Activities in Parents of Overweight Hispanic Toddlers and Preschoolers	Personal Interviews	Parent nutrition knowledge	"Are there short-term risks of child obesity? If yes, list at least 2."

Studies from which the constructs and overall design of the Best Food FITS parent survey instrument were derived

Survey Constructs Adapted from Existing Studies				
Authors	Title	Tool	Constructs Used	Sample Questions
Storfer- Isser et al, 2013 ¹⁷⁵	Measuring Parent Time Scarcity and Fatigue as Barriers to Meal Planning and	Online Survey	Parent self- efficacy: barriers	"At the end of the day, I (or another family member) have enough energy or time to cook."
	Preparation: Quantitative Scale Development			"I (or another family member) usually plan meals for the week."
Tschann et al, 2013 ¹⁷⁶	Parental Feeding Practices in Mexican American Families: Initial Test of an Expanded Measure	Parent Feeding Practices (PFP) Questionnaire	Parent feeding practices: positive involvement in child eating	"How often do you ask your child what he/she ate during the day?"
			Parent feeding practices: pressure to eat	"How often do you tell your child to eat everything on the plate?"
			Parent feeding practices: restriction of amount of food	"How often do you encourage your child to eat less?"
			Parent feeding practices: use of food to control behavior	"How often do you tell your child if he/she finishes the meal, he/she can have a sweet or soda?"

Construct	Items Included
Parent	• Self-height and weight
perception of	• Self-weight status (underweight, normal, overweight, obese)
self- and child-	• Child height and weight
weight	Child weight status (underweight, normal, overweight, obese)
Home food	Accessibility
environment	• In the last 12 months, were you hungry but didn't eat because there wasn't enough
	money for food?
	• In the last 12 months, I/we couldn't afford to eat balanced meals.
	• Do you use any of the following resources? (WIC, SNAP, TANF, food bank
	• How often does someone in your bousehold go grocery shopping?
	 Please indicate the foods that are stored at your home that your child can reach
	(Ice cream carrots bananas chins bread juice cheese candy milk etc.)
	Mealtime structure
	How often are home-cooked foods served to the members of your household
	for dinner?
	• How often are ready prepared foods served to the members of your household for
	dinner?
	How often are fast foods served to the members of your household for
	dinner?
	How often is sit down restaurant food served to the members of your
	household for dinner?
	• How often do you eat sitting at a dining table?
	• How often do you eat sitting around a television?
	• How often do you eat sitting at another location?
Doront	How often do family members eat separately at different times?
nutrition	• Are there long term ricks of child obesity? If yes, list at least 2.
knowledge	 Are there long-term fisks of clinic obesity? If yes, list up to 4. Do you know what factors can lead to childhood overweight/obesity? Check all
ge	that apply (Eating fruits and vegetables Eating salty spacks Watching TV etc.)
	 What is the most amount of time your child should spend watching TV in one
	day?
	• Recommended time child should be active per day
	• What is the minimum number of fruit servings your child should eat each day?
	• What is the minimum number of vegetable servings your child should eat each
	day?
Parent feeding	Strategies
practices	• How often do you:
	• I fell your child that eating fruits and vegetables will make him/her strong and
	Ask your child to help prepare meals?
	• Tell your child what will happen to him/her if he/she eats too many had foods?
	• Praise your child when she/he eats fruits or vegetables?
	• Mix fruits and vegetables with other foods that your child likes?
	• Keep junk foods out of the house or out of reach of child?
	• Model healthy eating for your child by eating healthy foods yourself?
	• Eat together as a family?
	Pressure to eat
	• If your child says, I'm not hungry, how often do you try to get him/her to eat

Parent survey questions arranged by construct²

² The individual parent survey questions used as variables in this analysis are emphasized in bold.

	anyway?		
	• When he/she says he/she is finished eating, how often do you try to get your child		
	to eat one more (2 more, etc.) bites?		
	• If your child eats only a small amount, how often do you try to get him/her to eat		
	more?		
	• How often do you tell your child he/she has to finish eating before he/she can go		
	play or do something else?		
	• How often do you tell your child to eat everything on the plate?		
	• How often do you tell your child if he/she doesn't eat, he/she can't watch TV?		
	Use of food to control behavior		
	How often do you:		
	• Offer your child his/her favorite foods in exchange for good behavior?		
	• Offer sweets to your child as a reward for good behavior?		
	• Tell your child if he/she finishes the meal, he/she can have a sweet or a soda?		
	Restriction of amount of food		
	How often do you:		
	• Encourage your child to eat less?		
	• Tell your child he/she has eaten enough?		
	• Let your child decide what or when he/she will eat?		
	• Allow your child to have seconds?		
	• Limit how much your child can eat of his/her favorite foods?		
	• If your child asks for a snack how often do you give it to her/him?		
	• How often does your child get his/her own snack without asking first?		
	Positive involvement in child eating		
	• How often do you:		
	• Ask your child what he/she ate during the day?		
	• Add small servings of new foods to your child's plate?		
	• Limit or keep track of the sweets that your child eats?		
	• Limit or keep track of the snack food that your child eats?		
	• Limit or keep track of the high-fat foods that your child data?		
	O Limit of keep track of the sugary drinks your child drinks?		
	 How often your family plans to get out for dinner 		
	How often your family plans to cat out for difficient		
	 How often your family plans to have vegetables at dinner. How often your family plans to have fruits at dinner. 		
	• How often your family plans to have fruits at uniner.		
	• I know what my child eats when at home		
	 I know what my child cats when at nonic. I know what is served to my child while in childcare/school 		
	 I know what is served to my child outs when in childcare/school. I know how much my child outs when in childcare/school 		
Parant calf	Barriers		
efficacy	• To what extent do you agree or disagree with the following statements?		
cificacy	• The cost of healthy foods prevents me from buying them		
	• Eating fruits and vegetables will keep my child healthy.		
	• My child eats enough fruits and vegetables to keep him/her healthy.		
	• At the end of the day. I (or another family member) have enough energy or		
	time to cook.		
	• I (or another family member) usually plan meals for the week.		
	• Preparing and cooking vegetables would be time consuming.		
	• Healthy foods cost too much.		
	• We don't like the taste of some healthy foods.		
	• We waste (throw away) too much healthy food.		
	• Healthy foods are too hard to prepare/ cook.		
	Self-efficacy		
	• I am sure I can:		
	• Make healthy meals that my family will enjoy.		

0	Find time to prepare healthy meals.
0	Make healthy choices when we eat out.
0	Plan meals ahead of time to make sure they include foods like vegetables,
	fruits, beans, and whole grains.
0	Eat as healthy as I want my family to eat.
0	Make healthier versions of our favorite foods.
0	Limit the amount of junk food at home.
0	Select healthy foods at the grocery store.

REFERENCES

- Crixell SH, Friedman B, Fisher DT, Biediger-Friedman L. Improving children's menus in community restaurants: Best Food for Families, Infants, and Toddlers (Best Food FITS) intervention, South Central Texas, 2010-2014. *Prev Chronic Dis.* 2014:1-12.
- 2. United States Census Bureau. QuickFacts: United States; Texas; Hays County; San Marcos, Texas.
- 3. City-Data: San Marcos, Texas. http://www.city-data.com/city/San-Marcos-Texas.html#b. Accessed April 10, 2015.
- 4. Texas Education Agency. Fitness Data. Texas Youth Fitness Study. http://tea.texas.gov/Texas_Schools/Safe_and_Healthy_Schools/Physical_Fitness_ Assessment_Initiative/Fitness_Data/.
- CDC. Obesity Among Low-Income Preschool Children. http://www.cdc.gov/obesity/downloads/pednssfactsheet.pdf. Accessed April 10, 2015.
- United States Census Bureau. Ten US cities now have 1 million people or more; California and Texas each have three of these places. News Release. http://www.census.gov/newsroom/press-releases/2015/cb15-89.html. Published 2015. Accessed October 8, 2015.
- 7. Central Health Connection Leaders. *Health and Health Care Trends & Innovations in Central Texas.*; 2011.
- 8. Bates K. Food environments of South Central Texas childcare centers. [master's thesis]. 2014.
- 9. Martin N, Garcia AC, Leipert B. Photovoice and its potential use in nutrition and dietetic research. *Can J Diet Pract Res.* 2010;71:93-97. doi:10.3148/71.2.2010.93.
- 10. Obesity and Overweight for Professionals: Childhood: Basics DNPAO CDC. http://www.cdc.gov/obesity/childhood/basics.html. Accessed March 4, 2015.
- 11. Ogden CL, Carroll MD, Kit BK, Flegal KM. Prevalence of childhood and adult obesity in the United States, 2011-2012. *Jama*. 2014;311:806-814. doi:10.1001/jama.2014.732.
- 12. Robinson M, Crozier SR, Harvey NC, et al. Modifiable early-life risk factors for childhood adiposity and overweight: an analysis of their combined impact and potential for prevention. 2015:368-375. doi:10.3945/ajcn.114.094268.Am.
- Dietz WH. Periods of risk in childhood for the development of adult obesity -What do we need to learn? *J Nutr.* 1997;127(9):1884S-. http://jn.nutrition.org/content/127/9/1884S.long.
- 14. Fryar CD, Carroll MD, Ogden CL. Prevalence of Overweight and Obesity among Children and Adolescents Aged 2-19 Years: United States, 1963-1965 through 2013-2014.; 2016.

- 15. Data Resource Center for Child & Adolescent Health. Overweight/obese children: percent of children whose weight status is at or above the 85th percentile. 2011/12 National Survey of Children's Health. http://childhealthdata.org/browse/rankings/maps?s=84. Accessed March 4, 2015.
- National Center for Chronic Disease Prevention and Health Promotion. *Texas:* State Nutrition, Physical Activity, and Obesity Profile.; 2012. http://www.cdc.gov/obesity/stateprograms/fundedstates/pdf/Texas-State-Profile.pdf.
- 17. Hoelscher DM, Butte NF, Barlow S, et al. Incorporating primary and secondary prevention approaches to address childhood obesity prevention and treatment in a low-income, ethnically diverse population: study design and demographic data from the Texas Childhood Obesity Research Demonstration (TX C. 2015;11(1):1-21. doi:10.1089/chi.2014.0084.
- Daniels SR, Arnett DK, Eckel RH, et al. Overweight in children and adolescents: Pathophysiology, consequences, prevention, and treatment. *Circulation*. 2005;111:1999-2012. doi:10.1161/01.CIR.0000161369.71722.10.
- 19. *Health and Education in Early Childhood*. Cambridge University Press; 2015. https://books.google.com/books?hl=en&lr=&id=jRVoBgAAQBAJ&pgis=1. Accessed March 6, 2015.
- 20. Freedman DS, Khan LK, Serdula MK, Dietz WH, Srinivasan SR, Berenson GS. The relation of childhood BMI to adult adiposity: the Bogalusa Heart Study. *Pediatrics*. 2005;115:22-27. doi:10.1542/peds.2004-0220.
- 21. Arons A. Childhood obesity in Texas: the costs, the policies, and a framework for the future. *Child Hosp Assoc Texas*. 2011.
- 22. Freedman DS, Khan LK, Dietz WH, Srinivasan SR, Berenson GS. Relationship of childhood obesity to coronary heart disease risk factors in adulthood: the Bogalusa Heart Study. *Pediatrics*. 2001;108(3):712-718. doi:10.1542/peds.108.3.712.
- Koplan JP, Liverman CT, Kraak VI. Preventing Childhood Obesity: Health in the Balance. Washington, D.C.; 2005. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/22379642.
- 24. Story M, Kaphingst KM, Robinson-O'Brien R, Glanz K. Creating healthy food and eating environments: policy and environmental approaches. *Annu Rev Public Health*. 2008;29:253-272. doi:10.1146/annurev.publhealth.29.020907.090926.
- 25. U.S. Department of Agriculture and U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. 2010 Dietary Guidelines for Americans. 2010.
- 26. Lytle LA. Examining the etiology of childhood obesity: The idea study. *Am J Community Psychol*. 2009;44:338-349. doi:10.1007/s10464-009-9269-1.
- 27. National Center for Health Statistics. *Health, United States, 2015: With Special Feature on Racial and Ethnic Health Disparities.* Hyattsville, MD; 2016. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/27308685.

- 28. Data Resource Center for Child and Adolescent Health. Texas State Fact Sheet. http://www.childhealthdata.org/docs/nsch-docs/texas-pdf.pdf. Published 2008. Accessed March 13, 2015.
- 29. Obesity and Overweight for Professionals: Childhood: Data | DNPAO | CDC. http://www.cdc.gov/obesity/data/childhood.html. Accessed February 14, 2015.
- 30. Pan L, McGuire LC, Blanck HM, May-Murriel AL, Grummer-Strawn LM. Racial/ethnic differences in obesity trends among young low-income children. *Am J Prev Med.* 2015;48(5):570-574. doi:10.1016/j.amepre.2014.11.009.
- Trust for America's Health and Robert Wood Johnson Foundation. Obesity among 2- to 4-year-olds from low-income families, 1989-2011. The State of Obesity: Better Policies for a Healthier America. http://stateofobesity.org/children24/. Published 2016. Accessed September 29, 2016.
- 32. Quan L, Wang H, Tian Y, Mu X, Zhang Y, Tao K. Association of fat-mass and obesity-associated gene FTO rs9939609 polymorphism with the risk of obesity among children and adolescents : a meta-analysis. *Eur Rev Med Pharmacol Sci.* 2015;19:614-623.
- Sabin M a, Kao K, Juonala M, Baur L a, Wake M. Viewpoint article: Childhood obesity – looking back over 50 years to begin to look forward. *J Paediatr Child Health*. 2015;51:82-86. doi:10.1111/jpc.12819.
- 34. Barroso CS, Roncancio A, Hinojosa MB, Reifsnider E. The association between early childhood overweight and maternal factors. *Child Obes*. 2012;8(5):449-454. doi:10.1089/chi.2011.0094.
- 35. Al Mamun A, Lawlor D a, Alati R, O'Callaghan MJ, Williams GM, Najman JM. Does maternal smoking during pregnancy have a direct effect on future offspring obesity? Evidence from a prospective birth cohort study. *Am J Epidemiol*. 2006;164(4):317-325. doi:10.1093/aje/kwj209.
- 36. Saavedra JM, Deming D, Dattilo A, Reidy K. Lessons from the feeding infants and toddlers study in North America: What children eat, and implications for obesity prevention. *Ann Nutr Metab*. 2013;62(suppl 3):27-36. doi:10.1159/000351538.
- Scinicariello F, Buser MC. Urinary polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons and childhood obesity: NHANES (2001-2006). *Environ Health Perspect*. 2014;122(3):299-303. doi:10.1289/ehp.1307234.
- 38. Hendrie G, Sohonpal G, Lange K, Golley R. Change in the family food environment is associated with positive dietary change in children. *Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act.* 2013;10(1):4. doi:10.1186/1479-5868-10-4.
- Ranjit N, Evans AE, Springer AE, Hoelscher DM, Kelder SH. Racial and Ethnic Differences in the Home Food Environment Explain Disparities in Dietary Practices of Middle School Children in Texas. *J Nutr Educ Behav.* 2015;47(1):53-60. doi:10.1016/j.jneb.2014.09.001.

- 40. Patrick H, Nicklas T. A review of family and social determinants of children's eating patterns and diet quality. *J Am Coll Nutr*. 2005;24(2):83-92. doi:24/2/83 [pii].
- 41. Powell F, Farrow C, Meyer C, Haycraft E. The importance of mealtime structure for reducing child food fussiness. *Matern Child Nutr.* 2016:1-7. doi:10.1111/mcn.12296.
- 42. Birch L, Fisher J, Grimm-Thomas K, Markey C, Sawyer R, Johnson S. Confirmatory factor analysis of the Child Feeding Questionnaire: a measure of parental attitudes, beliefs and practices about child feeding and obesity proneness. *Appetite*. 2001;36(3):201-210. doi:10.1006/appe.2001.0398.
- 43. Clark HR, Goyder E, Bissell P, Blank L, Peters J. How do parents' child-feeding behaviours influence child weight? Implications for childhood obesity policy. *J Public Health (Oxf)*. 2007;29(2):132-141. doi:10.1093/pubmed/fdm012.
- 44. Couch SC, Glanz K, Zhou C, Sallis JF, Saelens BE. Home food environment in relation to children's diet quality and weight status. *J Acad Nutr Diet*. 2014;114(10):1569-1579.e1. doi:10.1016/j.jand.2014.05.015.
- 45. Fisher JO, Birch LL. Restricting access to palatable foods affects children's behavioral response, food selection, and intake. *Am J Clin Nutr*. 1999;69(6):1264-1272. http://ajcn.nutrition.org/content/69/6/1264.abstract. Accessed October 14, 2015.
- 46. Gregory JE, Paxton SJ, Brozovic AM. Maternal feeding practices predict fruit and vegetable consumption in young children. Results of a 12-month longitudinal study. *Appetite*. 2011;57(1):167-172. doi:10.1016/j.appet.2011.04.012.
- 47. Birch L, Davison K. Family environmental factors influencing the developing behavioral controls of food intake and childhood overweight. *Pediatr Clin North Am.* 2001;48(4):893-907. doi:10.1016/S0031-3955(05)70347-3.
- 48. Variyam J. Overweight children: is parental nutrition knowledge a factor? *FoodReview*. 2001;24(2):18-22. http://webharvest.gov/peth04/20041030222726/http://www.ers.usda.gov/publicatio ns/FoodReview/May2001/FRV24I2c.pdf.
- Briggs M, Fleischhacker S, Mueller CG. Position of the American Dietetic Association, School Nutrition Association, and Society for Nutrition Education: Comprehensive School Nutrition Services. *J Nutr Educ Behav.* 2010;42(6):360-371. doi:10.1016/j.jneb.2010.08.007.
- 50. Laughlin L. Who's Minding the Kids? Child Care Arrangements: Spring 2011.; 2013.
- Iruka I, Carver P. Initial results from the 2005 NHES Early Childhood Program Participation Survey (NCES 2006-075). U.S. Department of Education. http://nces.ed.gov/pubs2006/2006075.pdf. Published 2006. Accessed March 27, 2015.

- 52. Stewart H, Blisard N, Jolliffe D. Let's eat out: Americans weigh taste, convenience, and nutrition. *Econ Inf Bull*. 2006;(19):16 p. http://ageconsearch.umn.edu/bitstream/59411/2/eib19.pdf.
- 53. Guthrie JF, Lin B-H, Frazao E. Role of food prepared away from home in the American diet, 1977-78 versus 1994-96: changes and consequences. *J Nutr Educ Behav.* 34(3):140-150.
- Ayala GX, Rogers M, Arredondo EM, et al. Away-from-home food intake and risk for obesity: examining the influence of context. *Obesity (Silver Spring)*. 2008;16(5):1002-1008. doi:10.1038/oby.2008.34.
- 55. Wiecha JL, Peterson KE, Ludwig DS, Kim J, Sobol A, Gortmaker SL. When children eat what they watch: impact of television viewing on dietary intake in youth. *Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med*. 2006;160(4):436-442. doi:10.1001/archpedi.160.4.436.
- 56. Powell LM, Schermbeck RM, Szczypka G, Chaloupka FJ BC. Trends in the nutritional content of television food advertisements seen by children in the united states: Analyses by age, food categories, and companies. *Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med.* 2011;165(12):1078-1086. doi:10.1001/archpediatrics.2011.131.
- 57. Kunkel D, McKinley C, Wright P. *The Impact of Industry Self-Regulation on the Nutritional Quality of Foods Advertised on Television to Children.*; 2010.
- Public Schools Explorer: San Marcos CISD. The Texas Tribune. http://www.texastribune.org/public-ed/explore/san-marcos-cisd/#demographics. Published 2015. Accessed October 13, 2015.
- 59. United States Census Bureau. San Marcos (city), Texas. State & County Quickfacts. http://quickfacts.census.gov/qfd/states/48/4865600.html. Published 2015. Accessed October 8, 2015.
- 60. Wilson TA, Adolph AL, Butte NF. Nutrient adequacy and diet quality in nonoverweight and overweight Hispanic children of low socioeconomic status: The Viva la Familia Study. *J Am Diet Assoc*. 2009;109(6):1012-1021. doi:10.1016/j.jada.2009.03.007.
- 61. Carrera PM, Gao X, Tucker KL. A study of dietary patterns in the Mexican-American population and their association with obesity. *J Am Diet Assoc*. 2007;107(10):1735-1742. doi:10.1016/j.jada.2007.07.016.
- 62. Warner ML, Harley K, Bradman A, Vargas G, Eskenazi B. Soda consumption and overweight status of 2-year-old mexican-american children in california. *Obesity (Silver Spring)*. 2006;14(11):1966-1974. doi:10.1097/00001648-200611001-01119.
- 63. Summerbell CD, Waters E, Edmunds LD, Kelly S, Brown T CK. Interventions for preventing obesity in children. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev.* 2005;3(3):1-73.

- 64. Wojcicki JM, Heyman MB. Let's Move--childhood obesity prevention from pregnancy and infancy onward. *N Engl J Med*. 2010;362(16):1457-1459. doi:10.1056/NEJMp1001857.
- 65. Mennella JA. Ontogeny of taste preferences: Basic biology and implications for health. *Am J Clin Nutr*. 2014;99(C). doi:10.3945/ajcn.113.067694.
- 66. Birch LL, Anzman-Frasca S. Promoting children's healthy eating in obesogenic environments: Lessons learned from the rat. *Physiol Behav*. 2011;104(4):641-645. doi:10.1016/j.physbeh.2011.05.017.
- 67. Cogswell ME, Gunn JP, Yuan K, Park S, Merritt R. Sodium and sugar in complementary infant and toddler foods sold in the United States. *Pediatrics*. 2015;135(3):416-423. doi:10.1542/peds.2014-3251.
- 68. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services and U.S. Department of Agriculture. 2015 2020 Dietary Guidelines for Americans.; 2015. doi:10.1097/NT.0b013e31826c50af.
- 69. Reedy J, Krebs-Smith SM. Dietary sources of energy, solid fats, and added sugars among children and adolescents in the United States. *J Am Diet Assoc*. 2010;110(10):1477-1484. doi:10.1016/j.jada.2010.07.010.Dietary.
- Ervin RB, Kit BK, Carroll MD, Ogden CL. Consumption of Added Sugar among U.S. Children and Adolescents, 2005-2008. Hyattsville, MD; 2012. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23676421.
- 71. Koletzko B, Broekaert I, Demmelmair H, et al. Protein intake in the first year of life: a risk factor for later obesity? The E.U. childhood obesity project. In: *Early Nutrition and Its Later Consequences: New Opportunities*. Vol 569. Springer Netherlands; 2005:69-79.
- 72. Günther A, Buyken A, Kroke A. The influence of habitual protein intake in early childhood on BMI and age at adiposity rebound: results from the DONALD Study. *Int J Obes*. 2006;30(7):1072-1079. doi:10.1038/sj.ijo.0803288.
- 73. Hoppe C, Udam R, Lauritzen L, Mølgaard C, Juul A MK. Animal protein intake, serum insulin-like growth factor I, and growth in healthy 2.5-y-old Danish children. *Am J Clin Nutr.* 2004;80(2):447-452.
- 74. Gunther ALB, Buyken AE, Kroke A. Protein intake during the period of complementary feeding and early childhood and the association with body mass index and percentage body fat at 7 y of age. *Am J Clin Nutr*. 2007;85(6):1626-1633. doi:85/6/1626 [pii].
- 75. Rolland-Cachera MF, Deheeger M, Akrout M, Bellisle F. Influence of macronutrients on adiposity development: a follow up study of nutrition and growth from 10 months to 8 years of age. *Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord*. 1995;19(8):573-578. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/7489029.
- 76. Skinner JD, Carruth BR, Bounds W, Ziegler PJ. Children's Food Preferences. J Am Diet Assoc. 2002;102(11):1638-1647. doi:10.1016/S0002-8223(02)90349-4.

- 77. Skinner JD, Bounds W, Carruth BR, Morris M, Ziegler P. Predictors of children's body mass index: a longitudinal study of diet and growth in children aged 2-8 y. *Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord*. 2004;28(4):476-482. doi:10.1038/sj.ijo.0802405.
- 78. United States Department of Agriculture: Food and Nutrition Information Center. DRI Nutrient Reports. National Agricultural Library. https://fnic.nal.usda.gov/dietary-guidance/dietary-reference-intakes/dri-nutrient-reports.
- 79. National Academy of Sciences. *Dietary Reference Intakes: The Essential Guide to Nutrient Requirements*. Washington, D.C.; 2006. https://fnic.nal.usda.gov/sites/fnic.nal.usda.gov/files/uploads/DRIEssentialGuideN utReq.pdf.
- 80. American Heart Association. Dietary Recommendations for Healthy Children. http://www.heart.org/HEARTORG/GettingHealthy/Dietary-Recommendationsfor-Healthy-Children_UCM_303886_Article.jsp. Published 2015. Accessed October 13, 2015.
- 81. Vos MB, Kaar JL, Welsh JA, et al. Added sugars and cardiovascular disease risk in children. *Circulation*. 2016;134:1-18. doi:10.1161/CIR.00000000000439.
- 82. Oldways Preservation Trust/Whole Grains Council. Whole Grains A to Z. Whole Grains 101. http://wholegrainscouncil.org/whole-grains-101/whole-grains-a-to-z. Published 2013. Accessed October 19, 2015.
- 83. Jonnalagadda SS, Harnack L, Liu RH, et al. Putting the whole grain puzzle together: health benefits associated with whole grains--summary of American Society for Nutrition 2010 Satellite Symposium. *J Nutr*. 2011;141(5):1011S-22S. doi:10.3945/jn.110.132944.
- 84. Oldways Preservation Trust/Whole Grains Council. What are the health benefits? Whole Grains 101. http://wholegrainscouncil.org/whole-grains-101/what-are-the-health-benefits. Published 2013. Accessed October 19, 2015.
- 85. Slavin J. Whole grains and human health. *Nutr Res Rev.* 2004;17(1):99-110. doi:10.1079/NRR200374.
- 86. Fox MK, Condon E, Briefel RR, Reidy KC, Deming DM. Food consumption patterns of young preschoolers: Are they starting off on the right path? *J Am Diet Assoc*. 2010;110(12):S52-S59. doi:10.1016/j.jada.2010.09.002.
- 87. Age-appropriate diet for children. Medline Plus. https://www.nlm.nih.gov/medlineplus/ency/article/002455.htm. Published 2011.
- CDC. NHANES About the National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey. National Center for Health Statistics. http://www.cdc.gov/nchs/nhanes/about_nhanes.htm. Published 2014. Accessed April 30, 2015.

- Devaney B, Kalb L, Briefel R, Zavitsky-Novak T, Clusen N, Ziegler P. Feeding Infants and Toddlers Study: Overview of the study design. J Am Diet Assoc. 2004;104. doi:10.1016/j.jada.2003.10.023.
- 90. Briefel RR, Kalb LM, Condon E, et al. The Feeding Infants and Toddlers Study 2008: study design and methods. *J Am Diet Assoc*. 2010;110(12 Suppl):S16-26. doi:10.1016/j.jada.2010.09.005.
- 91. Fox MK, Pac S, Devaney B, Jankowski L. Feeding Infants and Toddlers study: What foods are infants and toddlers eating? *J Am Diet Assoc*. 2004;104. doi:10.1016/j.jada.2003.10.026.
- 92. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Progress on children eating more fruit, not vegetables. CDC Vital Signs Report. http://www.cdc.gov/vitalsigns/fruit-vegetables/index.html. Published 2014. Accessed August 6, 2015.
- 93. Powell LM, Nguyen BT, Dietz WH. Energy and nutrient intake from pizza in the United States. *Pediatrics*. 2015;135(2):322-330. doi:10.1542/peds.2014-1844.
- 94. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. High sodium intake in children and adolescents: cause for concern. http://www.cdc.gov/salt/pdfs/children_sodium.pdf. Published 2013. Accessed July 20, 2015.
- 95. Dwyer JT, Butte NF, Deming DM, Siega-Riz AM, Reidy KC. Feeding Infants and Toddlers Study 2008: Progress, continuing concerns, and implications. *J Am Diet Assoc*. 2010;110(12 Suppl):S60-7. doi:10.1016/j.jada.2010.09.003.
- 96. Reat AM. Impact of policy change on feeding practices of infants and toddlers in the special supplemental nutrition program for women, infants, and children (WIC) in San Marcos, TX. 2013. https://digital-library-txstate-edu.libproxy.txstate.edu/handle/10877/4399.
- 97. American Academy of Pediatrics. Fruit Juice and Your Child's Diet. Healthy Living. https://www.healthychildren.org/English/healthyliving/nutrition/Pages/Fruit-Juice-and-Your-Childs-Diet.aspx. Published 2015. Accessed August 6, 2015.
- 98. Shefferly A, Scharf RJ, DeBoer MD. Longitudinal evaluation of 100% fruit juice consumption on BMI status in 2-5-year-old children. *Pediatr Obes*. 2015:1-7. doi:10.1111/ijpo.12048.
- 99. Sonneville KR, Long MW, Rifas-Shiman SL, Kleinman K, Gillman MW, Taveras EM. Juice and water intake in infancy and later beverage intake and adiposity: Could juice be a gateway drink? *Obesity*. 2015;23(1):170-176. doi:10.1002/oby.20927.
- Romo-Palafox MJ, Ranjit N, Sweitzer SJ, et al. Dietary quality of preschoolers' sack lunches as measured by the Healthy Eating Index. *J Acad Nutr Diet*. 2015;115(11). doi:10.1016/j.jand.2015.05.017.
- 101. Guo X, Warden B a, Paeratakul S, Bray G a. Healthy Eating Index and obesity. *Eur J Clin Nutr*. 2004;58(12):1580-1586. doi:10.1038/sj.ejcn.1601989.

- 102. Kant AK. Dietary patterns and health outcomes. *J Am Diet Assoc*. 2004;104(4):615-635. doi:10.1016/j.jada.2004.01.010.
- 103. Marshall S, Burrows T, Collins CE. Systematic review of diet quality indices and their associations with health-related outcomes in children and adolescents. *J Hum Nutr Diet*. 2014;27(6):577-598. doi:10.1111/jhn.12208.
- 104. Guenther PM, Kirkpatrick SI, Reedy J, et al. The Healthy Eating Index-2010 is a valid and reliable measure of diet quality according to the 2010 Dietary Guidelines for Americans. *J Nutr*. 2014;144(3):399-407. doi:10.3945/jn.113.183079.
- U.S. Department of Agriculture. Healthy Eating Index | Center for Nutrition Policy and Promotion. http://www.cnpp.usda.gov/healthyeatingindex. Accessed May 3, 2015.
- 106. Guenther PM, Reedy J, Krebs-Smith SM, Reeve BB. Development of the Healthy Eating Index-2005. J Am Diet Assoc. 2008;108(11):1896-1901. doi:10.1016/j.jada.2008.08.016.
- USDA Center for Nutrition Policy and Promotion. USDA Food Patterns. Project Resources. http://www.cnpp.usda.gov/USDAFoodPatterns. Accessed August 6, 2015.
- 108. Guenther PM, Casavale KO, Reedy J, et al. Update of the Healthy Eating Index: HEI-2010. J Acad Nutr Diet. 2013;113(4):569-580. doi:10.1016/j.jand.2012.12.016.
- 109. National Cancer Institute. Developing the Healthy Eating Index–2010. Applied Research: Cancer Control and Population Sciences. http://appliedresearch.cancer.gov/hei/developing.html. Published 2014. Accessed May 1, 2015.
- 110. USDA Center for Nutrition Policy and Promotion. *The Healthy Eating Index.*; 1995.
- 111. Bowman SA, Lino M, Gerrior SA, Basiotis PP. The Healthy Eating Index 1994-1996. 1998.
- 112. Erinosho TO, Ball SC, Hanson PP, Vaughn AE, Ward DS. Assessing foods offered to children at child-care centers using the Healthy Eating Index-2005. *J Acad Nutr Diet*. 2013;113(8):1084-1089. doi:10.1016/j.jand.2013.04.026.
- 113. Snetselaar L. Are Americans following US dietary guidelines? Check the Healthy Eating Index. 2015. https://www.elsevier.com/connect/are-americans-following-us-dietary-guidelines-check-the-healthy-eating-index.
- 114. Guenther P, Juan W, Lino M, Hizo H, Fungwe T, Lucas M. Diet Quality of Low-Income and Higher Income Americans in 2003-04 as Measured by the Healthy Eating Index-2005. *Cent Nutr Policy Promot Nutr Insights*. 2008;42(1):2. http://ddr.nal.usda.gov/handle/10113/33312.

- 115. Basiotis PP, Lino M. Food insufficiency and prevalence of overweight among adult women. Fam Econ Nutr Rev. 2003;(2):55-57. http://www.cnpp.usda.gov/Publications/NutritionInsights/Insight26.pdf.
- 116. Wang Y, Chen X. How much of racial/ethnic disparities in dietary intakes, exercise, and weight status can be explained by nutrition- and health-related psychosocial factors and socioeconomic status among US adults? *J Am Diet Assoc*. 2011;111(12):1904-1911. doi:10.1016/j.jada.2011.09.036.
- 117. Nguyen BT, Shuval K, Bertmann F, Yaroch AL. The Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program, food insecurity, dietary quality, and obesity among US adults. *Am J Public Health*. 2015;105(7):1453-1459. doi:10.2105/AJPH.2015.302580.
- 118. Rehm CD, Monsivais P, Drewnowski A. Relation between diet cost and Healthy Eating Index 2010 scores among adults in the United States 2007-2010. *Prev Med* (*Baltim*). 2015;73:70-75. doi:10.1016/j.ypmed.2015.01.019.
- Rydén PJ, Hagfors L. Diet cost, diet quality and socio-economic position: how are they related and what contributes to differences in diet costs? *Public Health Nutr*. 2011;14(9):1680-1692. doi:10.1017/S1368980010003642.
- Reedy J, Krebs-Smith SM, Bosire C. Evaluating the food environment. Application of the Healthy Eating Index-2005. *Am J Prev Med.* 2010;38(5):465-471. doi:10.1016/j.amepre.2010.01.015.
- 121. Vollmer RL, Adamsons K, Foster JS, Mobley AR. Association of fathers' feeding practices and feeding style on preschool age children's diet quality, eating behavior and body mass index. *Appetite*. 2015;89:274-281. doi:10.1016/j.appet.2015.02.021.
- 122. Sattler M, Hopkins L, Anderson Steeves E, et al. Characteristics of youth food preparation in low-income, African American homes: Associations with Healthy Eating Index scores. *Ecol Food Nutr.* 2015:1-17. doi:10.1080/03670244.2014.1001982.
- 123. Manios Y, Moschonis G, Katsaroli I, Grammatikaki E, Tanagra S. Changes in diet quality score, macro- and micronutrients intake following a nutrition education intervention in postmenopausal women. *J Hum Nutr Diet*. 2007;20(2):126-131. doi:10.1111/j.1365-277X.2007.00750.x.
- 124. De Koning L, Chiuve SE, Fung TT, Willett WC, Rimm EB, Hu FB. Diet-quality scores and the risk of type 2 diabetes in men. *Diabetes Care*. 2011;34(5):1150-1156. doi:10.2337/dc10-2352.
- 125. Guenther PM, Luick BR. Improved overall quality of diets reported by expanded food and nutrition education program participants in the mountain region. *J Nutr Educ Behav.* 2015. doi:10.1016/j.jneb.2015.05.001.
- 126. Fung TT, Hu FB, McCullough ML, Newby PK, Willett WC, Holmes MD. Diet quality is associated with the risk of estrogen receptor-negative breast cancer in postmenopausal women. *J Nutr*. 2006;136(August 2005):466-472.

- 127. Weinstein SJ, Vogt TM, Gerrior S a. Healthy Eating Index scores are associated with blood nutrient concentrations in the third National Health And Nutrition Examination Survey. *J Am Diet Assoc*. 2004;104(4):576-584. doi:10.1016/j.jada.2004.01.005.
- 128. Dubowitz T, Cohen DA, Huang CY, Beckman RA, Collins RL. Using a grocery list is associated with a healthier diet and lower BMI among very high-risk adults. *J Nutr Educ Behav.* 2015;47(3):259-264.e1. doi:10.1016/j.jneb.2015.01.005.
- 129. Tran L-TT, Brewster PJ, Chidambaram V, Hurdle JF. Towards measuring the food quality of grocery purchases: An estimation model of the Healthy Eating Index-2010 using only food item counts. *Procedia Food Sci.* 2015;4:148-159. doi:10.1016/j.profoo.2015.06.020.
- Kennedy ET, Ohls J, Carlson S, Fleming K. The Healthy Eating Index: design and applications. *J Am Diet Assoc*. 1995;95:1103-1108. doi:10.1016/S0002-8223(95)00300-2.
- Knol LL, Haughton B, Fitzhugh EC. Dietary patterns of young, low-income US children. J Am Diet Assoc. 2005;105(11):1765-1773. doi:10.1016/j.jada.2005.08.012.
- 132. LaRowe TL, Moeller SM, Adams AK. Beverage patterns, diet quality, and body mass index of US preschool and school-aged children. J Am Diet Assoc. 2007;107(7):1124-1133. doi:10.1016/j.jada.2007.04.013.
- Fungwe T, Guenther PM, Juan W, Hiza H, Lino M. The quality of children's diets in 2003-04 as measured by the Healthy Eating Index-2005. *Nutr Insights*. 2009;43:1-2.
- 134. Manios Y, Kourlaba G, Kondaki K, et al. Diet quality of preschoolers in Greece based on the Healthy Eating Index: The GENESIS Study. J Am Diet Assoc. 2009;109(4):616-623. doi:10.1016/j.jada.2008.12.011.
- 135. Nunn ME, Braunstein NS, Krall Kaye EA, Dietrich T, Garcia RI, Henshaw MM. Healthy Eating Index is a predictor of early childhood caries. *J Dent Res*. 2009;88(4):361-366. doi:10.1177/0022034509334043.
- 136. Freedman LS, Guenther PM, Krebs-Smith SM, Dodd KW, Midthune D. A population's distribution of Healthy Eating Index-2005 component scores can be estimated when more than one 24-hour recall is available. *J Nutr.* 2010;140(8):1529-1534. doi:10.3945/jn.110.124594.
- 137. O'Neil CE, Fulgoni VL, Nicklas TA. Association of candy consumption with body weight measures, other health risk factors for cardiovascular disease, and diet quality in US children and adolescents: NHANES 1999-2004. *Food Nutr Res*. 2011;55. doi:10.3402/fnr.v55i0.5794.
- 138. Rauber F, da Costa Louzada ML, Feldens C a, Vitolo MR. Maternal and family characteristics associated with the Healthy Eating Index among low socioeconomic status Brazilian children. *J Hum Nutr Diet*. 2013;26(4):369-379. doi:10.1111/jhn.12005.

- 139. Hiza HAB, Guenther PM, Rihane CI. Diet quality of children age 2-17 years as measured by the healthy eating index-2010. 2013. http://www.cnpp.usda.gov/HealthyEatingIndex.htm.
- 140. Carroll RJ. Estimating the distribution of dietary consumption patterns. *Stat Sci.* 2014;29(1):2-8. doi:10.1214/12-STS413.
- 141. Johnson CR, Turner K, Stewart P a., et al. Relationships between feeding problems, behavioral characteristics and nutritional quality in children with ASD. *J Autism Dev Disord*. 2014:2175-2184. doi:10.1007/s10803-014-2095-9.
- 142. Kong A, Odoms-Young AM, Schiffer L a., et al. The 18-month impact of special supplemental nutrition program for women, infants, and children food package revisions on diets of recipient families. *Am J Prev Med*. 2014;46(6):543-551. doi:10.1016/j.amepre.2014.01.021.
- 143. Leal KK, Schneider BC, França GVA, Gigante DP, dos Santos I, Assunção MCF. Diet quality of preschool children aged 2 to 5 years living in the urban area of Pelotas, Brazil. *Rev Paul Pediatr (English Ed.* 2015;33(3):310-317. doi:10.1016/j.rppede.2015.06.013.
- 144. O'Neil CE, Nicklas TA, Fulgoni VL, DiRienzo MA. Cooked oatmeal consumption is associated with better diet quality, better nutrient intakes, and reduced risk for central adiposity and obesity in children 2-18 years: NHANES 2001-2010. Food Nutr Res. 2015;59:26673.
- 145. Tester JM, Leung CW, Crawford PB. Revised WIC food package and children's diet quality. *Pediatrics*. 2016;137(5). doi:10.1542/peds.2015-3557.
- Padget A, Briley ME. Dietary intakes at child-care centers in Central Texas fail to meet food guide pyramid recommendations. *J Am Diet Assoc*. 2005;105(5):790-793. doi:10.1016/j.jada.2005.02.002.
- 147. University of Minnesota. NDSR: Nutrition Data System for Research. Nutrition Coordinating Center. http://www.ncc.umn.edu/products/ndsr.html. Published 2014. Accessed November 20, 2015.
- 148. Excel (Part of Microsoft Office Professional Edition) [computer program]. 2013.
- 149. University of Minnesota. Guide to creating variables needed to calculate scores for each component of the Healthy Eating Index-2010 (HEI-2010). 2014:1-12.
- 150. IBM Corp. IBM SPSS Statistics for Windows. 2013.
- 151. Steyn NP, Nel J, Labadarios D, Maunder EMW, Kruger HS. Which dietary diversity indicator is best to assess micronutrient adequacy in children 1 to 9 y? *Nutrition*. 2014;30(1):55-60. doi:10.1016/j.nut.2013.06.002.
- 152. Markides BR. Usual dietary intake of children ages 2-5 years in a community at high risk for obesity: Comparison to age-matched NHANES data, 2009-2012 [master's thesis]. 2016.

- 153. Public Health Law Center. Healthy Beverage Policies. St. Paul, MN; 2013.
- 154. Han E, Powell LM. Consumption patterns of sugar-sweetened beverages in the United States. J Acad Nutr Diet. 2013;113(1):43-53. doi:10.1016/j.jand.2012.09.016.
- 155. NDSR 2013 Manual. Minneapolis, MN; 2013.
- 156. CDC National Center for Health Statistics. Questionnaires, Datasets, and Related Documentation. National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey. http://www.cdc.gov/nchs/nhanes/nhanes_questionnaires.htm.
- 157. NCI Epidemiology and Genomics Research Program. HEI Tools for Researchers. http://epi.grants.cancer.gov/hei/tools.html. Published 2016.
- 158. Thornton HEB, Crixell SH, Reat AM, Von Bank JA. Differences in energy and micronutrient intakes among Central Texas WIC infants and toddlers after the package change. *J Nutr Educ Behav.* 2014;46(3S):S79-S86. doi:10.1016/j.jneb.2014.02.005.
- 159. Palermo NE, Holick MF. Vitamin D, bone health, and other health benefits in pediatric patients. *J Pediatr Rehabil Med.* 2014;7(2):179-192. doi:10.3233/PRM-140287.
- 160. DeLuca HF. Overview of general physiologic features and functions of vitamin D. *Am J Clin Nutr*. 2004;80(6 Suppl):1689-1696. doi:80/6/1689S [pii].
- Kumar J, Muntner P, Kaskel FJ, Hailpern SM, Melamed ML. Prevalence and associations of 25-hydroxyvitamin D deficiency in US children: NHANES 2001-2004. *Pediatrics*. 2009;124(3):e362-70. doi:10.1542/peds.2009-0051.
- 162. US Environmental Protection Agency. UV Index Web Page. https://www.epa.gov/sunsafety/uv-index-1#day4. Published 2016.
- 163. Kranz S, Brauchla M, Slavin JL, Miller KB. What do we know about dietary fiber intake in children and health? The effects of fiber intake on constipation, obesity, and diabetes in children. *Am Soc Nutr Adv Nutr*. 2012;3:47-53. doi:10.3945/an.111.001362.47.
- 164. Williams CL, Bollella M, Wynder EL. A new recommendation for dietary fiber in childhood. *Pediatrics*. 1995;96(5 Pt 2):985-988.
- 165. Newby PK. Plant foods and plant-based diets: Protective against childhood obesity? *Am J Clin Nutr*. 2009;89(5). doi:10.3945/ajcn.2009.26736G.
- 166. Campbell K, Hesketh K, Silverii A, Abbott G. Maternal self-efficacy regarding children's eating and sedentary behaviours in the early years: associations with children's food intake and sedentary behaviours. *Int J Pediatr Obes*. 2010;5(6):501-508. doi:10.3109/17477161003777425.

- 167. Cole N, Fox MK. Diet quality of American young children by WIC participation status: data from the National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey, 1999-2004. *Math Policy Res Reports*. 2008;(July):1999-2004. http://ideas.repec.org/p/mpr/mprres/6257.html.
- Leung CW, Blumenthal SJ, Hoffnagle EE, et al. Associations of food stamp participation with dietary quality and obesity in children. *Pediatrics*. 2013;131(3):463-472. doi:10.1542/peds.2012-0889.
- 169. Burrows TL, Martin RJ, Collins CE. A Systematic Review of the Validity of Dietary Assessment Methods in Children when Compared with the Method of Doubly Labeled Water. J Am Diet Assoc. 2010;110(10):1501-1510. doi:10.1016/j.jada.2010.07.008.
- Campbell KJ, Crawford DA, Ball K. Family food environment and dietary behaviors likely to promote fatness in 5-6 year-old children. *Int J Obes (Lond)*. 2006;30(8):1272-1280. doi:10.1038/sj.ijo.0803266.
- Musher-Eizenman D, Holub S. Comprehensive Feeding Practices Questionnaire: validation of a new measure of parental feeding practices. *J Pediatr Psychol.* 2007;32(8):960-972. doi:10.1093/jpepsy/jsm037.
- 172. Nansel TR, Haynie DL, Lipsky LM, Wang J, Mehta SN, Laffel LMB. Relationships among parent and youth healthful eating attitudes and youth dietary intake in a cross-sectional study of youth with type 1 diabetes. *Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act.* 2013;10:125. doi:10.1186/1479-5868-10-125.
- 173. O'Connor TM, Hughes SO, Watson KB, et al. Parenting practices are associated with fruit and vegetable consumption in pre-school children. *Public Health Nutr*. 2010;13(1):91-101. doi:10.1017/S1368980009005916.
- 174. Rich SS, DiMarco NM, Huettig C, Essery E V, Andersson E, Sanborn CF. Perceptions of health status and play activities in parents of overweight Hispanic toddlers and preschoolers. Family & Community Health. http://eds.a.ebscohost.com.libproxy.txstate.edu/eds/pdfviewer/pdfviewer?vid=1&si d=eb833dfc-fca2-4c5b-aa25-d20eb730ffc5%40sessionmgr4005&hid=4202. Published 2005. Accessed April 10, 2015.
- 175. Storfer-Isser A, Musher-Eizenman D. Measuring parent time scarcity and fatigue as barriers to meal planning and preparation: quantitative scale development. *J Nutr Educ Behav.* 2013;45(2):176-182. doi:10.1016/j.jneb.2012.08.007.
- 176. Tschann JM, Gregorich SE, Penilla C, et al. Parental feeding practices in Mexican American families: initial test of an expanded measure. *Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act*. 2013;10(1):6. doi:10.1186/1479-5868-10-6.